
 

Democratic Services democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 

Title: Health & Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

Date: 11 September 2012 

Time: 4.00pm 

Venue Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 

Members: Councillors: 
Rufus (Chair)C Theobald (Deputy Chair), 
Bowden, Cox, Marsh, Robins, Sykes and 
Wealls 
 
Co-optees: 
David Watkins (LINk), Jack Hazelgrove (OPC), 
Amanda Mortensen (Parent Governor 
Representative), David Sanders (Catholic 
Schools Service), Susan Thompson (Diocese 
of Chicester) and Youth Council (Youth 
Council) 

Contact: Kath Vlcek 
 
01273 290450 
kath.vlcek@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 
The Town Hall has facilities for wheelchair users, 
including lifts and toilets 

 

T  

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for 
anyone wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter 
and infra red hearing aids are available for use during 
the meeting.  If you require any further information or 
assistance, please contact the receptionist on arrival. 

  

 FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are 
instructed to do so, you must leave the building by 
the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the 
nearest exit by council staff.  It is vital that you follow 
their instructions: 
 

• You should proceed calmly; do not run and do 
not use the lifts; 

• Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

• Once you are outside, please do not wait 
immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further 
instructions; and 

• Do not re-enter the building until told that it is 
safe to do so. 



AGENDA 



 

4 
 

Part One Page 
 

24. Procedural Business  
 

 

25. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  
 

1 - 8 

26. Chair's Communications  
 

 

27. Public Involvement  
 

 

28. Issues Raised by Councillors and Co-optees  
 

 

29. Children with Complex Needs  
 

9 - 50 

 Contact Officer: Kath Vlcek, Scrutiny 
Support Officer 

Tel: 01273 290450  

 Ward Affected: All Wards  
 

 

30. GP Performance  
 

51 - 70 

 Contact Officer: Kath Vlcek, Scrutiny 
Support Officer 

Tel: 01273 290450  

 Ward Affected: All Wards  
 

 

31. Mental Health Beds (September 2012)  
 

71 - 88 

 Contact Officer: Kath Vlcek, Scrutiny 
Support Officer 

Tel: 01273 290450  

 Ward Affected: All Wards  
 

 

32. Local Implementation of the 111 Service  
 

89 - 94 

 Contact Officer: Kath Vlcek, Scrutiny 
Support Officer 

Tel: 01273 290450  

 Ward Affected: All Wards  
 

 

 



 

5 
 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made 
on the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be 
raised can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Scrutiny (01273 
290450) or email scrutiny@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
 

 

Date of Publication 3 September 2012 

 

 





��
�

������	
����	�
�������	�
����
�

�
��������
���
�
��	�
���
����������
���	�����

�
�

��������������������
�

�	�
���������
����	�
��	�
������
�

��
��
��
�

�� ! "#��������		�
�����
������
��
�
�$!%�&"�'## "('") ��������		�
���������	��������������
�������������

��������
������
�
���� ��		
�
�
	#* ��� �+ �!��� ! "#����
���!��� �����
��"#$�����
�%����&�'�	(
�!���)	��
�*���	�+
�
������	����
����
����,������-�����������	����
�./�������
���
����*�
����0�!�
��
��
�

�
�

�����	

�
�
�

���� ��	�
,���������

���
�
���� �-+!#&#-# !�
�
1231� ���
����
������3�������		�
�0
���/���4�(�!����
����	�(��
3�
�
���� , )$'�'#&%"!�%.��"# � !#�
�
1232� ���
����
������3� �
�
���� 
/)$-!&%"�%.��� !!�'"(��-+$&)�
�
1235� #�� ����
������ ����� 
������� 166.�7�� ��� ���� "���	� 0�!�
�/���� .��� 1892�� ��� ��
�

���
���
���������
� �����
�

��������	���
���	������4�	����� �
�/� ����/�����(���
��(�
�������
���
����������������/
�������������������(��������!��(�
�(�
�������������
�����
������
���

��������
��
������������������
����������
�������(
���������	���	�������
����
������
�����/�/��

���������
�

��������	�����
���
�
��������
�����	�������
�	�
�
�����
���/���������������	��
��4�/�������
/�������
������������
�������166	��1���������
����.��3�

�
����� �
�	��
,�0#*'#�#* ��� !!�'"(��-+$&)�+ �"%#� /)$-( (�.�%��#* ��  #&"1���
�
�
�2�� ��
��
��
�
1531� ��/��

� ���
���
��� ���� �
����/�����
� �
�/� ���� 12� %���� 2612�&��	��� ���� �		����(�

)!�
!����������
��������//�����3�
�

1



�

��
�

�
��������
���
�
��	�
���
����������
���	�����

� �������������

�2��� �
�	��
,�#*'#�#* ��&"-# !�%.�#* �����-" ������� '$#*�'"(�� $$+ &"1�	3 �3& 4�
'"(��)�-#&"5��%��&##  �+ �'���%3 (�'"(�!&1" (��

�
���� �����6���	���
�����	
��
�
1731� �		
�����
�
������������������������
�����������
�
+
����		��(������
���������
���������

����
��������������
�
3�&�������
�(����!�
���������������
���������
��
�

���
3��
�

&�������������!�
����
���!��������
��
��(�����
����������(����������
�����

������(����
����������������

��
�������
����
�������/�	�4����
���!�	!����������(�����
�
���
���		��
�
����
�
��(���������
����
������������������
�
3�

�
�
�7�� ��������
�	��
�

��
�
1:31� ���
����
��������/
�������
���
3��
�
�
�8�� ����
������
,�����	�
����	����
,��	9	��

��
�
1;31� ���
����
������

��
�������
���
3�
�
�
�:�� �

�����
�	���	;���
�,��
��	��	;���������
�����
�
1931� �
�*���
� �	���
����
�
����������
���
���
��
���/�����	�����
�����	����������������

/�����(3��
�����	���������/��	���<=���	+������2611������	�
���
��������	������	�����
�
�
�(���������&�!�3���
� �	���
���
�//�
�
�������
���
���������
�������
��
���
>��
����
��
�/�������//������/�/��

3�

�
1932� ������		�
�����
����	����������
���
��������������	����������
��	��?�����
�!�����������

�������	�����(��������/��
�����/��
��������	����

��
���
���������3�����
���
�����������
�������
���//������/�/��

3�

�
1935� #��
�
���
�������>��
����������������	�

����������
�
��/���
�	���	�0*
�������������
�

���	������
�������/�
�!����
��
/�������
� �	���
���
�������������		�����
�
(�
��
����
��/��
�����/
�	!�
�������
������
��������
�/�	�
�����������
��
����
������������		�
�
������
���
�

���������3����
��		�����/�
��/�����(��	���/��
�
��
�������/���3�

�
1937� #��
�
���
�������>��
������������
���
�+
���������������������
� �	���
���
�������������


���
����
�/���	�������������
��
�/�
����
���
���������

���
�������/���(�

���������
�	�����	���//�

�����(�0
�������0�3�����
���
����
��������������������
/���!������
����
������(������	
������
���0*
���������	��*�������
3������
���
�������	
����������

��������		�������		�

���������		�0*�
�
(�
��
3�

�
193:� 0�
�	�����&������������)��
����(�)�����
���
�������0��
��������������	�

����������


�
��/���
������������	���(����

�����������3�������0���
��	
���	�����(�������
������

��
���
�
���
�
�
(�
��
���(������/��
��(�	���������	����������
�!����(�
����
�����
/������
�
�/��������
+��4��
�����
3��
�&��������	����������������/�������������	���������
��//���������������
������	���
�����3��

2



�

2�
�

�
��������
���
�
��	�
���
����������
���	�����

� �������������

�
193;� ��/��

���//��������������/�(������������
�����������!����	�0*
����	���������


��/�	��(��	������
��/�
�!��(���
�3����
�/�(��������
����	�
	��������
����
�	���/
������
���������������������!����	����������
�����
�/�����	���
��
�3��

�
1939� ���
����
�����
��

�����
����������
���	������������
���
�3��
�&�����
�������������

��0�����(���������������
�
���	��������	�����	��
��
����	���		�������
��
���������!������

�
�	�
������
���	���������(������!��3��

�
193@� �
� �����
�
���������������������������	��������������
���
��������*�������*�
�����������

0
���
��**0���������
���
���������	��	�������
������
�/����/�
���4�	������������
��

���
�
3�

�
1938� �
�	��
,�0�#*'#�#* �'""-'$�� �%�#�%"��-+$&)�* '$#*�+ �"%# (��'"(�#*'#��!��%+'"�

+ �&"3&# (�+')<�#%�!� '<�%"�����  ��� 3& 4!�'"(��'#& "#�.  (+')<���
�
�=�� ��	����	�>���	�����
�
�
1@31� ������		�
�����
����
�������������
���
�(
�//����4�	�����(������������		�

�����
��

��

������������	�������
�!���
	��/��������
��

������(
���������
���
�(
�//��
�������3�������		�
�����
��4�	�����������������
���
�(
�//����
����	��������/��������
���	������/�������������������
�������3�����& )�����?�����
����������
������������
����������	���
���
�(
�//������
�����������/�����!�A����
�����	����������
�����������3�

�
1@32� ������		�
� ��		
���//������������/������.���
/�
�
!���
���
����	�
�������-���(�

*���	�3�&����
������
������������
��/���������	�������������������
������������	�
���
����-���(�*���	�+
���//�����3�#���������������
����
�>���������

�������
�
�((�
�����
����������
����(����������
������.�&�3�������		�
� ��		
�
�((�
������������
��������
�
�������(����3�����
���
��(
���3�

�
1@35� ������		�
���

��
�((�
������������/
��>�������	�����	���//�

�����(�0
������
���(���

��//�

�����(�*	��������
��������	�����	���//�

�����(�0
����.����	�)��
����(�*	���
���	�������/�����3����
���
��(
���3��

�
������		�
���

���	
��
������������/��/��?���//���������	
�B��
�����(����	����������
����.��	�������	���
����//����������& )���
���	���������	����������
���
�3��

�
1@37� �
�	��
,�0�#* �4%�<���%1�'�� �4'!�'1�  (��4&#*�#* � /) �#&%"�%.�#* �

'� "(� "#!��'( �'+%3 ��
�
�
�?�� �

�����
������
,����,��
�
�
1831� .����C�
��
���	�����	���//�

�����(�0
����"������//�

����
�������	�&��	�������

��/�.		������

�4�*�
���

����$&��C�����������
�
����*C�����
!������
����
��
�
�!�����������//�������������!�
��	�������������������
������������������	�����	�
��!����0
���������
�	�
��/�����(�
�(�
���(�������/��
�
��������/����	����	������
����
��		�=����&�
����	3�����& )��������
������
���!�
��	���������
�/�����/�����(3��

��

3



�

��
�

�
��������
���
�
��	�
���
����������
���	�����

� �������������

1832� �
�C�
��
�
����������
���������	�
��& )���/�����(�������	�����	�
�!����(
����������	���
�
��	�����������
���
�/�����(3�����(
��������������
�
�
����
�4��	�������
��
�/���
�

�
�*C����������
����������0*������	�&��	���"�������������0��������
���		�����
���
���
������

����
��������������������/��
�
�������	�
�
�
����������	����������������������
���
�?��������/3��

�
�����	�������
���	���������������
��4��
������������������
��!��	��	���������	�������		��A����
�
/�(����
�������		���	��
�������
�
��	����
�/���(��(��������
����������//�����3�#�
����������

�!����(
��������������
������
�
��
��
��
�������������������	�
�
�
������!�
�����
��//������
�
!���
���������
��/�
�!�/���
����������/����	����	���
�
!���
��3(3�
��
���
(�����/3�����
�!����(
������	������������
�!���	����/������
���
��/�
�!�/���
����
�����
�
�
���
�	������&�/���
���/�������/����&�������������
����	�
������	
��
���(��?
��/��
����
���
���		��
�	�����(�����������/���
����
����������	��(���������������+
�
���3��

�
1835� �
�.		����	�
��������������
������������������	�������
�
�(�
���(������	�
�
������������
�

�
�������(���������
���
���!�
�/������
����	��������!��������//������
�
!���
3�����
�
���

���/���	������
���
���
��������
�������/���(������������//�������
�/�����
�
��

��	�������
�������������������������
���������//���������/
�������/�	������
����	�

����
�������
�
3����
�������	
�����������
�(
�

����
������(�����	��(������
����
�����
�������
������������������
	����
���
(�����
������
��������
��
�����%���3���
��

1837� �
�C�
��
������
�.		�����//������������������������	����(��������������������

��	�����
/��������8:D���
(�����
�����//������(�����	����������
�(���������&�!������
�������	��
����������85D3�������/�������������!�
����������
�
�����������
�������
����������
��/�	�

��

���(�
�
����
��
������
����	���������������	��
�

�
�
��������������

�
!���
���

�
183:� ������//���������
����������
����
���
���
���
����(���(�����
��
���
��������!�
�/�������

��//������
�
!���
���������������	�����	�
�!����(
������		�/�����(�������.�(�
�����/����
������	�����
���������!�
�/���3������/��������������!�
�/�������	�����/�����
����!�
���
��
����������������
���/����
�����

�

���
�
�
�������	��������
��/����(�����
/������
����
���������������
������������
3��

�
183;� ������		�
�����
�
��������������
�
�
�
�
����������
�!����(
���+
�����
���������
����

����>����	�����	�������4�
����//������
����
��
�
��
��
���!����/�����(��	�����������
����/��
��
E�

�
1839� �
�.		���
����������!�
�/�����
���
�	
������	
������������!�	����A����������	�
�
!���
�

���	���������	������������/��
�2612�����
���	��>����	�������	�������/��
�
��������
�
�����/�
3�����,�
	����
���
(�����/���
��	
�������!��(�����
���!���/���������������
�
����������4���������
�
�
!���
����/�������/��!��	��	����
�
�!������
�������3��

�
183@� ��//������/�/��

�
����������������
����
�����������������������
�����������
�?�����

�������
3���������	���	
����!��	����������!���������
������
���
���!��	��	�����
�������
�/��
������

��3�

�
�
�C�
��
������
�.		����4�	����������������
�������

��	�������!���
�!��������
������

���
�A�������(�������	���
�����������	�������
+�/�����(�����/���������������
�������

��	��
������
�����
���3������������
/�����������
������
���
����		�����
�!��������������4��
& )���/�����(
3�������		�
�����
���	��/������
������
/�����3�

4



�

7�
�

�
��������
���
�
��	�
���
����������
���	�����

� �������������

�
1838� �
�,��������
�����-�����������	���
�����������������������������������	�
�
�
����	��

��!�����������/�	��
�����������
�������
����	�
����
������/�(�������	�����������������
��3�
�
�.		���
����������*C�����	���	���
��
�������
�!����
�/��������������
���

������������
����//��������	�����������
����

��	�A��*C����
����
���
�

���

�43�#����
�������
������
�������������
��
���

�����������
�����
��������
�������/�
A�����������!�
�/����
�����//������
�
!���
����	��
����
�����
3�

�
18316� �
�&������
�/�������0������
/���������	�������
����	����������		��
�!��������
���������

��		����(��������������	���!�
�/���3�#�!�
�/������
��//������	���!��	��	����
�
�/�����
����
�
!���
�������
��
����������������������������������
�������0���
���	
���
�(
�

��(�
����
��	��
����	����(�������

���	������
�
��
���������	�����������
��
���������������
��
/
����
����
��������//�������A����
������(�
����	����/�������
��(�26153����
�
��
���
�������	��(��
��
��
/������	�F��
������
�/����	����	���
�
!���
����		����(����
�4���
�!��������������
�!�������
�
!���
3�����������

��(�/���
����	�������
���		��
/�����
��A������
�������(�����(�����/���	������
��
�(����������
�

��(���
�
��/���
�/��	����3�

�
18311� �	���(�� �
��?�����
�����������������,4�����!�G��
����
������
���(���
�/�������

�4�

��//�������
�
���
�������������������������
��(����
�/�	�
��
���

���� �
����

�4�
����
�
�

��������������
�����
/�	��!�	���������������
�(
�//�������������������	�������
������������
�����
�
�
!���
3��
� �
��?�����
�����
�.		��������
�C�
��
��(
�������
���������������
��

������		����(�������//������/�����(������(
������������������		�
�
����
�����& )���/�/��

�����������������������/�
3�

�
18312� �
� �����
��
��
�
�����(�����"#$���
��������������
�!�
����
�����������������������
����

������	�������������//���������
��
�
���������	����������������3�&���
�������������
����
��
���
�
����������������	�
�
�
����
�����������"#$�3�

�
18315� ������		�
� ��		
�
��������������
�(
�������������/�F�
���������//������/�/��

��
����

��	������������
�����
���!��/�!������
��
�
��
��
������
���	�3�
�
18317� �
� �
��?�����
���
��������
����
����������
���
�������(�
����//�����(�����������
�

����

�
����������
�/���������������������������
�
!��������
��
�����
��
��
/��������
����(������!���

3�#������(�
���
������/���������!���

����	����������(�3��

�
�?��7� �
�	��
,�0�#*'#�#* �3 �+'$�� �%�#�+ �"%# (�'"(�#*'#�4�&## "�� �%�#!�%"�#* �

!&#-'#&%"�� 1'�(&"1�#* �+ (�)$%!-� !�+ �+�%-1*#�#%�'$$�.-#-� ���	����  #&"1!�
4*&$!#�#*&!�4'!�'�$&3 �&!!- ��

�
�
���� ������
����

���
@�
���A���	��
���
�	����
�
2631� #��/�26���
��
��(�����
��
����������(������������
�>��
�����������		�
�������		3��

�
2632� ������		�
�������		�
�>��
�������������& )������
���
���
����	����������
�����-�����

%�
�����*	����-%*��������
�
�����
�����
��(����
�!��������	3�������		�
�������		����	�����
��
�
��
��
���
����
���4�	�����(������
�����	�����������-%*���
������>����3�#�����������

�!�
�	���
�����
������&�
���F�
��+
�#�
�����
�������*
��������������
�(���������&�!��

5



�

8�
�

�
��������
���
�
��	�
���
����������
���	�����

� �������������

����������	�����������������/�2:�������������
����������������	����1;6���������������
�

�

��3�

�
2635� ������		�
�������		�����

�������������#/�
�!�/����*	������������
��/�������������

���	�
�������-���(�*���	�+
�����������/��
�������(���������/��
�2611��������������
&�#*���
��������
���
������������������������
�������
�������

��	������
�

?�

���
�����������������/���
�
���
�����
�	�3�����-%*���/������������������
���2612�����
������		�
�������		�������		��(��
������������	�����������
�������
�����
�3�

�
2637� ������		�
�������		���	������������
�������
��
�������/����
�����-%*�������
�
�����
��A�����

����
�/�����
���������	������������	������%����
��2615�����������	����	��	�����������

�
�
����
��(����������
���
�	
���������������
�((�
����������������/�
�!�/�����	���
����
���������/���������(�����
���//���
��������������
�/���+
��
���
�	
3�

�
263:� ������		�
�����
���������������		�
�������		���
�
��
��(����
��/��
������

���������!�����

>��
����
�������//���
��
�/���//������/�/��

3�
�
263;� ������		�

�������?�����
��(
�������������-%*���
�����/��
�����������������������������

��������������
�!��������	��
�
�����
���

��	����������������

��
����������������		
�
������		+
�	����
�
���	��������
�

��3��

�
2639� ��/��

���
����4���
������������
�������������	�
���	����!����	�������4�
���(���
�����

�/�
�!������
�
!���3��������
��

���������
�������������������
��
������
��
��������������
����
���
���(����	����
�����%����
��2615���//�����
3�#����
�
�((�
�������������	�
�

����
�����������

���!�	!��������!�	����(�����
�
!�������	��������������	����������������
����
����	����	������!�	��A�������	���������

�
����
���������	���������/�	��������/��?
����/��26123��

�
���=� �
�	��
,�0�#*'#�'�!)�-#&"5�� 3& 4��'" $�+ �! #�-��#%�$%%<�'#�#* ��%-#*��-!#&) �

�$'"�'!�!%%"�'!��%!!&+$ ��#%�+ �)%��$ # (�+5��&(�'-#-�"�������
�
2638� ������		�
� ��		
���������
���������
�
�>��
����
���
�
����������	��	�����(�����/�
(�����

����//������������
�(���������&�!�3����
�������/�������
�������������
��(����
���
��
�
�/�
�/�������
����
�������
����������
�����
�
����������������������
��/�
(�����
����//����������
�������
���
��
�3�#����
����	�
��������		�
� ��		
����������
�
�������
�����!��	���	��������
���������
�(
������������������
����	�
��
��	�/���
�
���!�
��(�
������
�	�!��(������������//�������3��
�
������		�
� ��		
����
������������
���
�������������

�����
���	�������
�
���
�������
�
��>��
�3�&��������
���
�>��
����
����	����(����
���
���������	�!�	����
����
�������
������
���
��(�!���������
����������
���
���
�?�����
��(��
���

3�#��/�(����	
�����
����
���������4���������
�/��������������	����	���������/��
�
���
���		��
��/�
(�����
����//���������
����
������	
�������
��
����
��������
�3��

�
26316� ��/��

���//���������������
��������������
/
����������/��
��������	��������(�

�/�
(�����������/��
�
������//����������
�����(���(�����/�
�!�3��������	����������
���	��������
��
��������	������������

�����
��(����
�!��������	3�&������	�������	��
����	������
������������������	�����������(��/�
(���������//�������E���/��

�
����
�������������	��	�������
��������
�
!�����
�

���
�����
�
��
�
������!��(
���
���
���		��
�

�
!�����
�!���

�����
��
����(����
�
�������!�����
���

��	�3���

6



�

:�
�

�
��������
���
�
��	�
���
����������
���	�����

� �������������

26311� $�
����
������
�������
���(�*���	������(�
���
�/�����&��
��(���//�

�����(�H�����
����%�����I��(����&��
��(���//�

�����(�)�����
��
�/�����&��
��(���//�

�����(�
H��������
�

���
�/���������>��
��
�
��
����
�/���//������/�/��

3��������//������
��������
�������������
�(���������
�
�����������/��

��������	�����
������(���
����������
��/��
�
�������/�
(���������//�������3���
�����
������
��	�����//���������������
�����!��/�	���	����/�	�4�����
�����������������������/�	�4���������	�����(����
����//��������������
3��

�

������ ��/��

���
��

������������������
���
��
�3��#����
���	�������������

�����
�
����
���	�������		�������(����/�������		�����
���
�����
��F���3�������//�������(
���������
���
����	�����������
��
�������������
���
�
����������	�����
��(����/�����������������	�
	�����(��������-�����%�
�����*	������	��������
��
���3��

�
����2� �
�	��
,�0�#*'#�'�!)�-#&"5�� 3& 4��'" $�+ �! #�-��#%�$%%<�'#� � �1 ")5�'"(�

# ��%�'�5�'))%��%('#&%"���* ��'" $�!*%-$(�!� '<�#%�! �3&) �-! �!�B%��#* &��
� �� ! "#'#&3 !C�'"(�! �3&) ���%3&( �!���

�
�
���� ����
D��	���
���������A�;	�
,���	
����������������	
�
�
2131� �
� �
��?�����
�����������������,4�����!�G��
����
������
���(���
�/�������

�4�

��//�������
�
�������������������(�!��������������������
�
�+
����	����������
�
C�����������
�
��
����
3�&���!�
����������������
���������
����������
����	��������
����	������/��
�2612������
���������
�//�
��
���3��
� �
��?�����
������
���
��
(�!�����
�
������������������
����������
�
��������
���
�����������//�����3�

�
2132� �
� �
��?�����
�����
��
���>��
����
��
�/���//������/�/��

�������
����	�
�

���
�

��(���//���
���������������
�������������
����	�
�
!���
����������
�
�3�����
�4�	����������������
�
��������	��������
�����	�����������/�	�

��

�
�
!���
�����
��
����	�
�������	�
�
!���
3�

�
���2� �
�	��
,�0�#*'#�#* �)%"# "#!�%.�#* ��� ! "#'#&%"�+ �"%# (�'"(�#*'#��!��'�( 9

�%+&"!%"�)%� �+')<�#%���	���&"�(- �)%-�! �4&#*��%� �&".%��'#&%"�%"�#* �
'��$&)'#&%"�.%��;%-"('#&%"���-!#�!#'#-!��

�
�
���� �
��
����	���
���	���������
�
2231� ������//���������
���
�������	����
�
�(�
���(����
��(�
�
!���
3�
�
2232� ���
����
�������//���
3��
�&������(
���������/�����������������������//���������

������
������A����
���
���	��/��3�
�
���2� �
�	��
,�0�#*'#��!��%+'"�)%� �+')<�#%�-�('# �#* ��%��&##  �'#�'�.-#-� �('# �

%"�� '�&"1�� �3&) !�&"�#* �)&#5��
�
�2�� ;	���
;	�����	
A��	�>����
�	;���
�����,�

����	�
���
	��
��	�����

�	�����

�
�
2531� ������
���	�����
����������������//�����3�

7



�

=�
�

�
��������
���
�
��	�
���
����������
���	�����

� �������������

�
�

����/�����(�����	��������9366�/�
�

��(����
�
�
�
�
�

����
�

���������
� ������� �
�

8



HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 29 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Children with Complex Needs 

Date of Meeting: 11 September 2012 

Report of: The Strategic Director, Resources 

Contact Officer: Name: Kath Vlcek Tel: 29-0450 

 Email: Kath.vlcek@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 The Parent Carers’ Council and Amaze have produced ‘Talk Health’ an annual 

report on health services in the city, and have requested that it be circulated for 
information and comment to HWOSC members. 

 
1.2 A copy of the report is attached at Appendix 1.  
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  

 
2.1 That the HWOSC: 
 
  Considers and comments on the ‘Talk Health’ report  
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY EVENTS 
 
3.1 See Appendix 1 for more information provided by Amaze/Parent carers’ Council. 
 
 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 None for this cover report but the annual report focuses on parent participation 

as a key element of improving health services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9



5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 
 Financial Implications: 
 
5.1 None to this report for information. 
 
 Legal Implications:  
 
5.2 None to this report for information. 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
 
5.3 None to this report for information. 
 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
5.4 None to this report for information. 
 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
5.5 None to this report for information. 
 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
5.6 None to this report for information.  
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
5.7 None to this report for information. 
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
5.8  None to this report for information.  
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 

1. ‘Talk Health’ report 
 
Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
None 
 
Background Documents 
 
None 

10



“Talk Health...”

Parent Carers’ Views on Health Services 
in Brighton & Hove 2012

11



1. Executive Summary      2

2. Focus on Health: Why Now?     4

3. Methodology and Report Structure    6

4. Parent Carer Findings      7

5. Conclusions and Parent Carer’s Key Recommendations 16

Appendices      19

Contents

1

12



2

Every parent’s first wish is for their child(ren) to lead as healthy a life as possible. When you become a parent 

you may expect to have some involvement with health services. You would expect to visit the GP and have, 

maybe, the odd visit to A&E. You might expect the occasional broken bone and high temperature.  

Yet nothing prepares you for the journey you begin when you have a child with a disability. Due to their 

complex health, mental health and wellbeing needs this group of children use a wide array of health services. 

a. Who are we?

The Parent Carers Council (PaCC) is a group of 190 parent carers of children with disabilities, complex needs 

or long term conditions from across the city. The group was set up in 2007 as a work stream of Amaze, a long 

established parent led organisation supporting parents of children with any special need in Brighton and Hove. 

Amaze supports approximately 1,600 families of disabled children in this area. PaCC is mostly funded by NHS 

Brighton & Hove with some funding from the Integrated Disability Services in Brighton & Hove and the DFE 

(Department for Education).

b. Why listen to us?

Disabled children’s interaction with a wide range of health services can be intensive, extensive and expensive: 

they are high cost, high incident users of health services. A range of different health services are required 

including universal services (such as GPs), specialist services (such as specialist neurology services) and 

condition specific services (such as a service for children with visual impairment). Many of our local children 

travel up to London to see specialists in a specific field. However, this report is concerned with the services 

that are provided locally, in Brighton & Hove. 

Health professionals from across acute, primary care, specialist services, palliative care and community-based 

services must actively seek the views of these young patients, and those of their parent carers, if they are to 

ensure that their experience of health services are as positive as possible. We have sought the views of parent 

carers who use health services extensively in order to create this report which we hope will help to improve 

the efficiency and quality of the health services from the perspective of children with disabilities and special 

needs. For instance, children with disabilities and complex health needs and their families may have used A&E 

services at all times of the day or night and can provide expert views on what could be improved more than 

the occasional users. We hope that by addressing the concerns of parent carers, the following outcomes could 

be achieved: 

s฀ -ORE฀EFFICIENT฀USE฀AND฀TARGETING฀OF฀SCARCE฀HEALTH฀RESOURCES฀

s฀ )MPROVED฀QUALITY฀AND฀@FIT�฀OF฀SERVICE

s฀ 'REATER฀USER฀SATISFACTION฀WITH฀SERVICES฀AND฀FEWER฀COMPLAINTS

c. Key Recommendations

See the report below for our full lists of recommendations but the top three key areas that we urge further 

attention and investment in order to improve the lives of disabled children and young people and to assist them 

to fulfil their potential are:

s฀ &URTHER฀IMPROVING฀0ARENT฀0ARTICIPATION

The parent carer voice needs to be represented at the highest level in order to ensure that services are as 

good as they can be for disabled children and their families. The Care Quality Commission’s (CQCs) review 

of services for disabled children [see below] showed that there were few care plans across Sussex with little 

information about waiting time for therapies but that Brighton and Hove was the only area with “adequate 

involvement of children and families in assessments, inductions and training”. This is very positive and can be 

built upon. The voice of parent carers needs representation on the new Health and Wellbeing Board, Children’s 

“This year, my child has seen 

two community paediatricians, a 

gastroenterologist, a neurologist, an 

occupational therapist, a physiotherapist, a 

speech and language therapist, a dietician, 

a ketogenic diet team, a geneticist, a 

surgeon, a school nurse, a community 

nursing team, several different teams 

of doctors and nurses at the children’s 

hospital, ten different paramedics 

and her GP. She has attended medical 

appointments or hospital visits over 40 

times.” 

1. Executive Summary

13



Committee and Clinical Commissioning Group’s Children’s Review Board. The PaCC needs increased financial 

support to ensure that it continues to carry out its vital participation work and reach new, further marginalised 

groups of parents in the city. We believe that Public Health should match the investment in PaCC that the PCT/

CCG makes in order to continue this very valuable work, and that the new CCG should continue this funding at 

a higher level, if possible, to reach families who face multiple disadvantage and face health inequalities. There 

needs to be better evaluation of health services. Parent Carer feedback could be standardised across all health 

SERVICE฀USING฀A฀STANDARD฀FORM�฀(EALTH฀SERVICES฀SHOULD฀INVITE฀PARENT฀CARERS฀IN฀TO฀@EVALUATE�฀THEIR฀SERVICES฀USING฀

the Partnership Charter [see appendix 1]. CAMHS has already asked to do this and this should form part of a 

WIDER฀@PARENT฀REVIEW�฀OF฀#!-(3�฀

s฀ )NCREASED฀RESOURCE฀FOR฀SERVICES฀

The need for increased community support is a strong theme throughout health services. A specialist paediatric 

epilepsy nurse would be cost effective in the long run, reducing stays in hospital and greatly reducing stress 

levels in family members looking after children with very complex epilepsy. The community nursing team is 

UNDER฀RESOURCED�฀AND฀THERE฀ARE฀ONLY฀TWO฀SPECIALIST฀HEALTH฀VISITORS�฀WHO฀PROVIDE฀VITAL฀@EARLY�฀SUPPORT�฀!LSO�฀THE฀

disability liaison nurses in adult services are making a huge difference to the experience of adults with learning 

difficulties in hospital. The same post for paediatrics would greatly improve the experience of young people 

and their families in hospital. This would reduce complaints and even reduce hospital stays as this valuable 

PROFESSIONAL฀CAN฀GIVE฀ADVICE฀OVER฀THE฀PHONE฀TOO�฀-ANY฀PARENTS฀PLAY฀A฀@KEYWORKER�฀ROLE฀IN฀THEIR฀CHILD�S฀HEALTH฀

care and this should be recognised and supported with increased access to resilience training (Insiders’ Guide 

offered by Amaze). For those families who do not feel able to play this role, a keyworker is needed and this will 

become even more vital with the implementation of the new single Education, Health and Care Plan. 

s฀ )MPROVED฀COMMUNICATION฀AND฀TRANSPARENCY

It is frustrating to see that after 5 years of review, access to therapies is still a huge problem for many children 

and waiting times are still unacceptably long. There needs to be a citywide code of practice for GPs and young 

people in transition. Parent journey training (taken up by some professionals) should be made mandatory for all 

professionals, including consultants. This would greatly improve communication between health professionals 

and families and reduce complaints. Communication needs to be improved between the multitude of health 

professionals involved in children and young people’s lives. Parent carers should be routinely copied in to any 

correspondence about their young person and should be routinely given details of eligibility criteria and 

waiting times. 

3

14



a. Increasing levels of disability and complex health needs

Nationally, we have seen a marked increase in the number of children with disabilities and complex health 

needs, due to the increased survival of pre-term babies, children making a better recovery from severe trauma 

and illness and an increase in children on the autistic spectrum and with mental health issues. This trend is 

reflected locally. 

b. Child Poverty & Health Inequalities

There is a well-documented link between disability and poverty. It costs 3 times more to bring up a disabled 

child than a non-disabled one and over half of all families with disabled children are living in (or on the edge of) 

poverty. [Appendix 2 shows the membership of the City’s Disability Register, The Compass, by ward].

)N฀%DUCATION�฀THERE฀IS฀A฀#ITY
WIDE�฀STRATEGIC฀DRIVE฀TO฀@NARROW฀THE฀GAP฀IN฀ATTAINMENT�฀BETWEEN฀CHILDREN฀IN฀SCHOOLS฀

with Special Educational Needs (SEN) and we believe there should be a focus on reducing health inequalities 

(as far as possible) in this population. It is known that inequalities exist for adults with learning disabilities, as 

underlined by Mencap’s report Death By Indifference (which highlighted cases of undiagnosed illness and even 

avoidable death). A new Children and Families Bill will set in place provisions to allow families with a single 

Education, Health and Care Plan access to a personal budget by March2014. If successful, we believe the 

single planning aspect will provide an opportunity to see a more joined up approach.

 

PaCC representatives have been significantly involved to date in the SE7 Pathfinder looking into some of these 

new ways of working. It is still unclear how planning for health outcomes will be incorporated and whether any 

elements of health budgets will be passed to the family to direct. What is clear is that t is parent carers are 

provided with sufficient support in any new system to ensure the family get the desired benefits in terms of 

increased feelings of choice and decision making/buying power.

c. New Health Bill

The PaCC aims to represent the views of local parent carer in the areas that really matter to them and their 

children. During 2010-11 we reported on parent carer views on education at a time when SEN (special 

educational needs) was going through huge change and reform (and this work is ongoing). The same is now 

happening within health, with the biggest changes in the system for 60 years. 

We want to ensure that disabled children’s very unique needs are prioritised within this, not only at a national 

level, but also locally in Brighton & Hove. Amaze and the PaCC have fed into the Children’s and Young People’s 

Health Outcomes Forum, co-ordinated by the Council for Disabled Children.

Our focus on health has also been timed to coincide with the establishment of the City’s Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG) and the movement of Public Health back into the local authority and we hope to present our 

findings to these Commissioners and feed into the City’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and new 

Health and Well-Being Board

d. The evolution of parent participation

Parent Partnership working is evolving in a really exciting way in the City, in some areas resulting in true co-

production and this must certainly be the way forward. When parents and professionals work together, from the 

earliest stages of service design, outcomes improve for disabled children. We need to ensure that the voice of 

parents of disabled children is heard at every level and this is starting to happen in Brighton & Hove because 

key people operating at a strategic level are working closely with parent carers. 

2. Focus on Health: Why Now?

4

15



Parent carers are represented on the city’s key decision-making boards including the Disabled Children’s 

Strategic Partnership Board, the CAMHS Partnership Board, the SEN Partnership Board and the Learning 

Disability Partnership Board. They are involved from the outset on the development of information for families 

about local services for children with disabilities. Parent carers are also now being included on interview 

panels for key health professionals such as occupational therapists, speech and language therapists and nurse 

consultants. 

In fact, Brighton & Hove is by national standards, well advanced in parent partnership work. Last year saw the 

launch of the Partnership Charter, a ground-breaking piece of work based on the principals of Aiming High 

FOR฀$ISABLED฀#HILDREN฀WHERE฀TEAMS฀OF฀TRAINED฀PARENT฀CARERS฀@ASSESS�฀LOCAL฀SERVICES�฀;SEE฀0ARTNERSHIP฀#HARTER฀IN฀

Appendix 1].

Although locally, parent partnership has come a long way as with many things, some services and individual 

professionals are doing this better than others. We hope this report will set out some of the good practice that 

is occurring in health and highlight where this can improve.

5

16



This report has been written to capture a snapshot of parent carers’ views of local health services. Given the 

number of different health services families with disabled children make use of, the PaCC Steering Group 

decided to prioritise discussion about just four. These are:

s฀ 4HE฀2OYAL฀!LEXANDRA฀#HILDREN�S฀(OSPITAL฀�2!#(	

s฀ 3EASIDE฀6IEW฀#HILD฀$EVELOPMENT฀#ENTRE฀�3EASIDE฀6IEW	

s฀ #HILD฀!ND฀!DOLESCENT฀-ENTAL฀(EALTH฀3ERVICES฀�#!-(3	

s฀ 'ENERAL฀0RACTITIONERS฀�'0S	

At the event we did ask parent carers their views on community health services. However many of the 

COMMENTS฀THAT฀PARENTS฀MADE฀WERE฀ABOUT฀COMMUNITY฀SERVICES฀PROVIDED฀BY฀2!#(฀AND฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀AND฀

therefore we have decided to incorporate these views in to the relevant sections. 

We asked parent carers to feed into this report in a number of ways:

s฀ 4HE฀0A##฀HELD฀A฀@4ALK฀(EALTH�฀EVENT฀;IN฀-ARCH฀����=฀PROVIDING฀PARENT฀CARERS฀WITH฀THE฀OPPORTUNITY฀TO฀

discuss the four areas above, with a senior professional from each service area in attendance to listen to their 

feedback. [Appendix 3 lists the professionals who attended.]

s฀ 4HE฀!MAZE฀(EALTH฀)NFORMATION฀&AIR฀TOOK฀PLACE฀IN฀.OVEMBER฀����฀AS฀A฀LAUNCH฀EVENT฀TO฀OUR฀FOCUS฀ON฀HEALTH฀

and providing parents and practitioners to come together and share information. A focus group was facilitated 

TO฀ALLOW฀PARENTS฀TO฀DISCUSS฀@COMMUNICATION฀WITH฀HEALTHCARE฀PROVIDERS��

s฀ 4HE฀!MAZE฀0ARENT฀#ARER฀3URVEY฀CIRCULATED฀VIA฀THE฀!MAZE฀NEWSLETTER฀TO฀����฀FAMILIES�฀���฀RESPONSES฀

returned.

s฀ )N฀ADDITION�฀WE฀CARRIED฀OUT฀TELEPHONE฀INTERVIEWS฀WITH฀A฀FURTHER฀��฀PARENT฀CARERS฀AND฀ASKED฀FOR฀FEEDBACK฀ON฀

the PaCC Facebook group, which has a current membership of 50 parents.

As such, this report is the result of PaCC talking face to face to over 50 local parent carers about their 

experiences of local health services as well as email, Facebook and survey results from 164 parents. Our hope 

is this report will clearly present a picture of the common experiences which families with disabled children 

face when using healthcare services in Brighton and Hove. 

We aim to table this report at the newly established Health & Well-Being Board and the new Health & 

Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee, among other key strategic meetings in the City. Our purpose is to 

facilitate discussion and raise the agenda of improving health services and ultimately the health outcomes for 

this disadvantaged group of children and their parent carers.

3. Methodology and Report Structure

6

17



This is a snapshot of parent carer experiences in Brighton & Hove. It aims to represent the wider local 

experiences of health services that families encounter on a daily basis. 

a) The Royal Alex Children’s Hospital (RACH) 

Positive findings

s฀ 4HE฀HOSPITAL฀ 

Parent carers acknowledged that the new RACH was a fantastic resource to have on your doorstep, without 

having to travel out of area. The new children’s A&E department was really well received by parent carers and 

MANY฀RECALLED฀THE฀@HORROR฀STORIES�฀OF฀TAKING฀THEIR฀CHILD฀TO฀THE฀ADULT฀!�%�฀4HE฀TRIAGE฀SYSTEM฀WORKED฀WELL฀AND฀

mainly the feedback about communication and understanding of disabled children’s needs was good. 

s฀ #OMMUNITY฀SERVICES฀LINKED฀TO฀THE฀HOSPITAL 

Parent carers told us that community support was good, but would like to see the service expanded. Parent 

carers were very positive about the community nursing team which provided excellent support to parent carers 

in their homes teaching them to care for nasal gastric tubes or gastrostomies. Parent Carers described them as 

“well briefed” with a “good understanding” of their child’s condition. 

s฀ $EPARTMENTS฀PROVIDING฀AN฀EXCEPTIONAL฀SERVICE฀ 

Phlebotomy services came out as particularly strong in the way they interact with disabled children. This was 

reported by several parents who also noted that the service had “really improved” over recent years. There 

is also regular paediatric first aid training offered for parents free of charge and this has been offered on a 

@BESPOKE�฀BASIS฀FOR฀ONE฀FAMILY฀WHO฀HAVE฀A฀CHILD฀AT฀RISK฀OF฀CHOKING฀AND฀HAVING฀BREATHING฀DIFFICULTIES�฀4HIS฀IS฀REALLY฀

exemplary. 

Areas for improvement

s฀ 0ARENTS฀WERE฀LEFT฀UNSUPPORTED฀PRIOR฀TO฀DIAGNOSIS

Often children with disabilities need to be monitored for long periods of time before they get any firm 

@DIAGNOSIS�฀OR฀PLAN฀OF฀ACTION�฀0ARENT฀CARERS฀UNDERSTAND฀THIS฀NEED฀TO฀@WAIT฀AND฀OBSERVE�฀APPROACH฀BUT฀FELT฀THAT฀

some sort of early support while they are waiting would have been ideal.

s฀ #OMMUNICATION฀BETWEEN฀DIFFERENT฀PROFESSIONALS฀WAS฀OFTEN฀POOR

Disabled children have many assessments carried out by a myriad of different professionals. Communication 

between them could sometimes be improved. 

#OMMUNICATION฀ALSO฀NEEDED฀TO฀BE฀STRENGTHENED฀BETWEEN฀2!#(฀AND฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀AND฀PARENT฀CARERS฀REPORTED฀

A฀@DISCONNECT�฀BETWEEN฀SPECIALISTS฀AT฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀AND�฀PARTICULARLY�฀REPORTS฀OF฀!�%฀VISITS฀OR฀UNPLANNED฀

admissions at RACH. Many of the children were treated in specialist units in London and communication could 

break down between these specialist London hospitals and RACH. One parent reported that having been 

transferred from Kings College Hospital in London to the RACH, they were approached by a member of staff 

who asked them “why they were there”. The parent became quite agitated before a plan of action was drawn up. 

s฀ 0ARENT฀#ARERS฀HAD฀TO฀REPEAT฀THEIR฀@STORY�฀OVER฀AND฀OVER฀�AND฀OVER	฀AGAIN

0ARENT฀CARERS฀TOLD฀US฀THAT฀THIS฀CAN฀BE฀REALLY฀IRKSOME�฀3OME฀NOTED฀THAT฀TAKING฀THEIR฀CHILD�S฀@MOST฀RECENT฀LETTER�฀

helps but even this didn’t totally prevent the repetitive process. The Disabled Children’s Acute & Community 

Liaison Group is looking in to improving this experience by producing an All About Me document that would 

be carried with the disabled child and their family. This gives basic information about diagnosis, medication 

and communication methods etc. Hopefully this will help to improve the in-hospital experience of families of 

DISABLED฀CHILDREN�฀4HIS฀IS฀NOT฀A฀@LOCAL�฀PROBLEM฀BUT฀A฀NATIONAL฀ONE฀AND฀HAS฀BEEN฀NOTED฀IN฀THE฀+ENNEDY฀2EPORT�฀

“My son is on the autistic spectrum and 

is very anxious. They had really thought 

through the whole experience. They had an 

extra member of staff to help and had his 

favourite DVD poised to play as they took 

the blood.” 

“My little girl had a very traumatic birth 

but despite the fact that her EEG showed 

abnormalities we were left to ‘watch and 

wait’. We went up to the main hospital and 

she was ‘observed’ by junior doctors but 

nothing seemed to be moving. We found 

it very difficult to get in to the process, 

despite the fact that I, as her mother, knew 

something was wrong.”

4. Parent Carer Findings

7

18



s฀ .URSING฀COULD฀BE฀INCONSISTENT�฀ 

Parent carers reported examples of outstanding practice. They reported that some nurses had extensive 

experience of working with children with disabilities and special needs. For instance, one child was looked after 

by a nurse who had worked at a local children’s hospice. 

However, there were also examples of inconsistent practice. Parent carers told us about nurses who appeared 

to lack basic disability awareness training, had little understanding of parent carer experiences in hospital and 

the demands this placed on them.  This meant that even to make a simple trip to the toilets had to be planned 

to ensure that their child was not left unattended, even for a minute. Staff were not always proactive at offering 

this help and only did so when they were asked. Some staff gave confusing and conflicting advice about 

SPECIALIST฀EQUIPMENT฀AND฀HAD฀A฀@RUSHED�฀APPROACH฀TO฀PARENTS�฀

0ARENTS฀OVERWHELMINGLY฀FELT฀THAT฀THEY฀WERE฀THE฀@EXPERTS�฀ON฀THEIR฀CHILD�S฀CARE฀AND฀THAT฀WITHOUT฀THEM�฀MANY฀

nurses would not know how to effectively care for their disabled child. Several parents reported that the lack 

OF฀A฀PAEDIATRIC฀NEUROLOGIST฀ON฀SITE฀WAS฀DIFFICULT฀WHEN฀A฀CHILD฀WITH฀COMPLEX฀EPILEPSY฀PRESENTED฀IN฀!�%฀IN฀@STATUS฀

epileptics’. 

s฀ #ONSULTANTS฀CAN฀LACK฀SENSITIVITY฀AND฀MAKE฀JUDGEMENTS฀ABOUT฀CHILDREN฀WITH฀DISABILITIES�฀

Parent carers reported that some consultants could be patronising or distant. Often there were several students 

in the room “who were not introduced to me or my child”. Some interactions with consultants had lasting and 

devastating effects. One new mother was told to put her newborn baby down in the cot while she was told 

@WHAT฀WAS฀WRONG฀WITH฀HER��฀/NE฀FAMILY฀WERE฀TREATED฀WITH฀A฀LACK฀OF฀EMPATHY฀AND฀TOLD฀THAT฀hTHEIR฀DAUGHTER฀HAD฀

half a brain” with no appropriate explanation or a caring delivery of such devastating news. 

s฀ 7AITING฀TIMES�฀ 

Consultants did not automatically put children, with special needs, first on the list so children who found it 

difficult to wait had to wait for long periods of time. This was improving, but consultants needed to be mindful 

that they needed to start their clinics on time, where possible. 

s฀ 0ARKING฀FACILITIES฀ARE฀UNACCEPTABLY฀POOR฀

There is one disabled bay at the Children’s Hospital. All the parent carers were dismayed by the parking 

facilities. There were bays in the car park but most of the time, there was such a long queue (often a waiting 

time of half an hour or more).  This was very stressful for families who had a child with special needs. The on 

road parking nearby was on a hill and parent carers reported “struggling” up and down hills with a wheelchair 

or a child who was unwilling to walk. One parent carer reported that the experience was so stressful for her 

child, who is on the autistic spectrum, that her son started to “head bang and hit us” before they had even 

made it to A&E. 

s฀ -IXED฀7ARDS฀AND฀4RANSITION฀ANXIETY฀

4EENAGERS฀WITH฀A฀LEARNING฀DISABILITY฀WERE฀PLACED฀ON฀A฀@MIXED฀AGE�฀WARD฀AND฀WHILE฀DIFFICULT฀FOR฀ANY฀TEENAGER�฀THIS฀

was particularly difficult for a teenager with a disability or special need. 

Parents reported a general anxiety about the transfer to adult services, particularly if they had not had a brilliant 

experience at the children’s hospital. 

Parent Carers’ Recommendations about RACH

s฀ 0ARKING฀

Priority should be given in the car park to those with a disabled badge allowing them to queue jump as the 

BAYS฀ARE฀THERE฀BUT฀PARENTS฀CAN�T฀GET฀TO฀THEM฀AND฀MORE฀BAYS฀THAT฀ARE฀CURRENTLY฀FOR฀@DROP฀OFF�	฀FREED฀UP฀FOR฀

@DISABLED฀BADGE�฀HOLDERS฀ONLY�฀4HE฀PARKING฀SITUATION฀FREQUENTLY฀PUTS฀A฀VISIT฀TO฀HOSPITAL฀OFF฀TO฀A฀REALLY฀BAD฀START�฀

This could easily be solved. 

“They just don’t have time to talk, or to 

listen”

“The consultant presumed that my son has 

no understanding of language, because he 

is wheelchair bound and has a progressive 

disorder. He started to talk about ‘end 

of life’ options in front of him! I was 

absolutely horrified.”

“We were given the first appointment, only 

for the consultant to be late. He sauntered 

in 30 minutes late, as my child finished 

dismantling the over-stimulating waiting 

room.” 

“My son hated being on a mixed age ward. 

No adjustment was made for different 

ages - in terms of waking times etc… It 

wasn’t an appropriate environment for a 

teenager.” 

8

“I feel that the liaison between consultants 

at the hospital and professionals at 

Seaside View is not strong enough. My son 

has severe seizures and cerebral palsy and 

when we arrived at hospital, they said that 

did not know him and could not advise. 

We had to tell our story again from the 

beginning. It was if the consultant we were 

talking to knew nothing about children 

who attended Seaside View.”

19



s฀ 0ARENT฀CARER฀INVOLVEMENT฀IN฀REGULAR฀GROUPS฀

Since the PaCC health event, a PaCC representative is now on the Disabled Children’s Acute & Community 

Liaison Group (a group that aims to improve the experience of disabled children and their families at RACH 

and also the links with community health services) but parent carers want a wider consultation group and 

opportunity for senior managers to listen to their concerns. 

s฀ 0ARENT฀JOURNEY฀TRAINING฀FOR฀ALL฀

Parent journey training should be part of the standard induction for RACH staff and should include consultants, 

doctors and nurses working at RACH. Amaze offers training workshops, delivered by parent carers, which cover 

the parent carer journey. We could also develop a protocol on how to treat parent carers differently when they 

arrive at RACH, in partnership with staff there. 

s฀ @!LL฀!BOUT฀-E�฀$OCUMENTS฀

Since holding the health event, it has emerged that this is an area that is being looked at. Although this is a 

great idea in principal, professionals need to think carefully about who holds this document and how several 

copies need to kept updated (in settings such as school, respite home, GP and family). There needs to be 

A฀REALLY฀CLEAR฀EXPLANATION฀OF฀THE฀DIFFERENCE฀BETWEEN฀THESE฀AND฀THE฀@PASSPORTS��฀TRADITIONALLY฀USED฀BY฀THE฀MAIN฀

hospital. Many parents will need help filling these in. There needs to be thought about how these documents 

will change/be modified during transition. 

s฀ $ISABLED฀CHILDREN฀GIVEN฀PRIORITY

Disabled children should routinely be put first on the list and where possible consultants should ensure that 

they arrive on time for clinics especially when the first appointment is for a child with special needs. There 

needs to be some liaison to ensure that as many appointments as possible are on the same day so that parent 

carers aren’t having to repeat the trauma of a hospital visit unnecessarily.

s฀ 3PECIALIST฀DISABILITY฀LIAISON฀NURSES

4HIS฀WOULD฀BE฀THE฀IDEAL�฀4HERE฀ISN�T฀A฀PAEDIATRIC฀@DISABILITY�฀SPECIALIST฀AVAILABLE฀AND฀IT฀IS฀@HIT฀AND฀MISS�฀WHETHER฀

you get a nurse with any real experience.  A specialist nurse could train up nurse teams on ethos and 

approach and ensure consistency. For instance, Kings College Hospital employ a Nurse Patient Liaison Officer 

that parents can contact at any time. She is able to give direct advice over the phone or contact another 

professional for advice if required. This has meant that unnecessary trips to London have been avoided 

because parents can be reassured over the phone.

b) CAMHS

 Positive findings

s฀ .EW฀0ARENT฀'ROUP

The service is listening to parent carer concerns and is keen to develop its partnership working with parents to 

improve the service. 

s฀ 3PECIALIST฀.URSES฀OFFER฀HOME฀VISITS

Several parent carers reported a really positive experience with the specialist CAMHS nurses. One said that she 

felt “supported and understood” and that really useful, practical help was given with daily challenges, such as 

going on a simple shopping trip. 

Areas For Improvement 

Out of all our local health services, parent carers report that CAMHS is the hardest to access and the most 

difficult to negotiate.

s฀ 4HE฀WAITING฀TIME฀FOR฀AN฀ASSESSMENT฀IS฀TOO฀LONG฀�AND฀NO฀SUPPORT฀IS฀GIVEN฀IN฀THE฀MEANTIME	�฀

Parent carers reported being “stuck in the system” and “left to it”. Guidance for parents as to how to deal with 

“CAMHS has really taken on board 

everything that has been said by parents 

and their stories all correlate with each 

other. So hopefully we will see some 

improvements.” 

“We had to wait nearly a year to be seen 

and they also said they would review my 

son [once seen for the first time] and 

this hasn’t happened. You can only be 

seen by a specialist in ASC if you have a 

statement.”

9

“I cannot think how my son [now 14] could 

manage being in a mainstream adult ward 

in hospital! We need to know he will be 

catered for and supported in adult services 

by making available specialist 1:1/2:1 staff 

to be with him on the wards, appropriate 

medication/equipment with a single room, 

giant cot/portable safespace, sedation etc.”

20



their children at home whist waiting to be seen by the consultant was not forthcoming and parents felt that time 

was wasted.  

s฀ 0ARENTS฀WERE฀NOT฀EMPOWERED฀OR฀TREATED฀AS฀EQUALS฀IN฀THEIR฀CHILD�S฀CARE฀AND฀REPORTED฀THAT฀THEY฀FELT฀THEIR฀

confidence had been eroded

-ANY฀PARENTS฀REPORTED฀A฀FEELING฀OF฀@DISEMPOWERMENT�฀WHEN฀ENGAGING฀WITH฀#!-(3�฀3EVERAL฀PARENTS฀DESCRIBED฀

FEELING฀AS฀IF฀PROFESSIONALS฀FELT฀THEY฀WERE฀TO฀@BLAME�฀FOR฀THEIR฀CHILD�S฀AUTISTIC฀SPECTRUM฀DISORDER�฀0ARENTS฀WERE฀

universal in their criticism. Several parents reported turning to voluntary organisations, such as Amaze and 

Ayme (Action for Young People with ME) as they were not getting a quality service from CAMHS. 

s฀ 4RANSPARENCY฀WAS฀POOR

Parent carers reported that there was little transparency on how to access the CAMHS system, and how it 

WORKS฀ONCE฀YOU฀ARE฀IN�฀!LSO�฀THIS฀FEELING฀OF฀A฀LACK฀OF฀TRANSPARENCY฀WAS฀EXACERBATED฀BY฀THE฀USE฀OF฀@PSYCHIATRIST�S�฀

language and lingo that parent carers did not understand. 

Parent Carer’s Recommendations about CAMHS

s฀ "ETTER฀INFORMATION฀�ABOUT฀WHAT฀#!-(3฀DOES฀AND฀WHO฀IS฀AND฀ISN�T฀ELIGIBLE฀FOR฀INPUT฀AND฀THE฀DIFFERENT฀SECTIONS฀

of CAMHS). Parent carers need to be involved in the creation of this information from the outset. 

s฀ 5SER฀SATISFACTION฀SURVEY฀TO฀BE฀SENT฀OUT฀�AS฀AGREED฀BY฀THE฀#HILDREN�S฀/VERVIEW฀AND฀3CRUTINY฀#OMMITTEE฀LAST฀

Autumn) and results analysed and presented back to the Disabled Children’s Partnership Board and Health and 

Well-Being Board.

s฀ 4RANSPARENCY฀ABOUT฀PATHWAYS฀OF฀CARE฀AND฀WAITING฀TIMES�฀

s฀ 4RAINING฀FOR฀PSYCHIATRISTS฀IN฀THE฀PARENT฀JOURNEY�฀4HERE฀NEEDS฀TO฀BE฀AN฀ETHOS฀CHANGE฀SO฀THAT฀PARENTS฀ARE฀SEEN฀

as the experts in their child’s care. This was a very powerfully voiced recommendation from parent carers who 

said that psychiatrists (some of whom were very newly qualified) made them feel “patronised”. 

s฀ !UTISM฀SPECIALIST฀NEEDED�

s฀ "EHAVIOUR฀NETWORK฀FOR฀CHILDREN฀WITH฀SEVERE฀BEHAVIOURAL฀DIFFICULTIES฀SET฀UP�฀4HIS฀WOULD฀PROVIDE฀MUCH฀NEEDED฀

support for families who are struggling with behavioural issues, allowing them to support each other as well as 

get professional input. 

C	฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀#HILD฀$EVELOPMENT฀#ENTRE฀�3EASIDE฀6IEW	

The relatively new integrated child development service has been well received by parents and this is a huge 

strength in Brighton & Hove, compared to other areas which do not have integrated services. Parents reported 

A฀FEELING฀OF฀@JOINED฀UP�฀CARE฀AND฀REALLY฀GOOD฀LIAISON฀BETWEEN฀DIFFERENT฀PROFESSIONALS�฀

 Positive findings 

s฀ 4HE฀COORDINATION฀AND฀COMMUNICATION฀BETWEEN฀PROFESSIONALS฀AT฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀WAS฀VERY฀GOOD

4HIS฀WAS฀UNIVERSALLY฀REPORTED฀BY฀PARENT฀CARERS�฀/NE฀TALKED฀OF฀THE฀NEW฀@INVITATION฀TO฀JOIN��฀WHICH฀MEANT฀A฀KEY฀

3EASIDE฀6IEW฀PROFESSIONAL฀WAS฀ABLE฀TO฀REFER฀YOU฀TO฀A฀NEW฀SERVICE�฀WITHOUT฀HAVING฀TO฀GET฀THE฀PARENT฀TO฀REVISIT฀

THEIR฀STORY฀FROM฀THE฀BEGINNING฀AGAIN�฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀WAS฀ALSO฀WORKING฀REALLY฀WELL฀WITH฀OUTSIDE฀AGENCIES฀�ONE฀

parent carer reported that the therapists worked really well together at her child’s mainstream school). Parent 

carers also reported the excellent service by the receptionists who always passed messages on efficiently. They 

were also very welcoming to families and included the children and young people when they visited the unit.

s฀ 0ERSONABLE฀AND฀APPROACHABLE฀STAFF

One parent carer reported that her child on the autistic spectrum was very anxious about her visit to the 

10

This story, from a mother who has a son 

with mental health problems, is typical. 

“I have a child with mental health 

problems. CAMHS? Where can I begin? It 

takes far too long from point of referral to 

actually seeing someone, even if your child 

is really quite poorly. They take stance of 

it being a family problem as opposed to a 

medical one or with the child. I have found 

psychiatrists quite arrogant and often not 

up to date with the latest developments. 

I had to make formal complaint and see 

a third psychiatrist from another county 

before got anywhere. This psychiatrist said 

that that my son should have had a proper 

care plan from the outset. It is the most 

stressful and exhausting experience I have 

ever encountered.” 

21



occupational therapist but viewed it as a very positive experience.  She was very understanding and had a real 

grasp of her child’s difficulties. 

s฀ %XCELLENT฀TEAM฀OF฀PAEDIATRICIANS

!LL฀THE฀PARENT฀CARERS฀GAVE฀POSITIVE฀FEEDBACK฀ABOUT฀PAEDIATRICIANS฀WHO฀THEY฀DESCRIBED฀AS฀@KNOWLEDGEABLE�฀AND฀

@EMPATHIC��฀-ANY฀PARENTS฀DESCRIBED฀THEIR฀PAEDIATRICIANS฀AS฀@GOING฀THE฀EXTRA฀MILE��฀!LMOST฀ALL฀PARENT฀CARERS฀

reported that they were “treated as equals” in their child’s care. 

s฀ +EYWORKERS฀AND฀3PECIALIST฀(EALTH฀6ISITORS฀

The new team of keyworkers was well received by parent carers. However they were a very small team (of two) 

so many families (who have multiple professionals involved with their child) were left without a keyworker. This 

will become even more resonant, with all the changes proposed by the SEN green paper and there will need 

to be very careful consideration as to how families are supported. Parent carers were universally positive about 

THE฀SMALL฀TEAM฀OF฀SPECIALIST฀HEALTH฀VISITORS฀AT฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀BUT฀AS฀IT฀IS฀ONLY฀A฀TEAM฀OF฀TWO�฀IT฀IS฀LIMITED�฀

Areas For Improvement

s฀ 7AITING฀TIME฀TRANSPARENCY

One parent reported their child had been referred two years ago and was still waiting for an appointment. 

Another parent carer reported that her child was referred every two to three years and was still waiting for an 

/4฀APPOINTMENT�฀(ER฀CHILD฀WAS฀NOW฀DUE฀TO฀START฀SECONDARY฀SCHOOL฀IN฀3EPTEMBER�฀%LIGIBILITY฀FOR฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀

services and how children are prioritised needs to be clearer. 

s฀ "ETTER฀SIGNPOSTING

0ARENT฀CARERS฀REPORTED฀THAT�฀ON฀THE฀WHOLE�฀PROFESSIONALS฀AT฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀WERE฀VERY฀GOOD฀AT฀POINTING฀THEM฀IN฀

the direction of Amaze of further help/advice. However it was felt that this could be improved. Parent carers felt 

IT฀WOULD฀BE฀HELPFUL฀IF฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀STAFF฀COULD฀HAVE฀SIGNPOSTED฀THEM฀TO฀NATIONAL฀SUPPORT฀SERVICES฀AS฀WELL฀AND฀

would have preferred a professional steer rather than “scaring myself on the internet.” 

s฀ %QUIPMENT฀

This was a widespread problem. Parent carers reported huge delays in equipment (a 6 month wait for a sling/

slide, for example). They also reported a lack of highly specialised equipment. The waiting time could be so 

long, that by the time the specialist equipment arrived the child had outgrown it. This is a particular problem 

at transition, too. There is confusion over who has responsibility to provide/replace/monitor equipment once a 

young person reaches 19. 

s฀ 4HERAPIES

Significant problems still existed with the provision of therapies. The PaCC and Amaze produced a report, 

“More Therapies”, four years ago see http://www.amazebrighton.org.uk/editorial.asp?page_id=253 and 

whilst there had been some improvements with improved information about the services provided many of the 

problems identified in that report had still not been resolved. There was a perceived lack of parity about who 

was eligible for therapy and how much input they got as well as serious concerns about waiting list times for 

referrals as well as appointments. 

Waiting times from referral to treatment were above the national average in 2011 for occupational therapy and 

physiotherapy see Care Quality Commission’s review of Support for Families of Disabled Children see: http://

www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/media/reports/20092010_Support_for_families_with_disabled_children_

BrightonandHoveCityPCT.pdf 

In particular, parents reported some children were receiving speech and language therapy (SALT) once or 

twice a year and others got SALT in intensive blocks of weekly provision for a set number of weeks. Parent 

carers reported finding it very difficult to get sufficient physiotherapy and OT input, even if it was on their 

CHILD�S฀STATEMENT฀AS฀SERVICES฀WERE฀@OVERSTRETCHED��฀/NE฀PARENT฀REPORTED฀THAT฀IT฀WAS฀NOT฀CLEAR฀HOW฀OCCUPATIONAL฀

“When giving the diagnosis (of a rare 

chromosome disorder) we felt they could 

tell us very little but surely they could 

have referred us to Unique or even used it 

themselves to download information?”

11

22



THERAPY฀WAS฀BROKEN฀DOWN�฀/NE฀FAMILY฀WAS฀TOLD฀THEY฀COULD฀NOT฀GET฀ANY฀@SENSORY฀INTEGRATION�฀INPUT฀FOR฀THEIR฀CHILD฀

and it was only when they complained that this was provided. Some parents reported a high staff turnover 

within the physiotherapy team had led to inconsistency of provision. Some parent carers were buying in private 

services to supplement what they get. Parents also report that therapy input appears to be reducing in schools 

and there is confusion as to whose responsibility this is. Also, there needs to be better planning for therapy 

provision once young people reach transition. Parent carers report that often families have “no idea” what is 

going to happen next or who is responsible for next steps. There are problems within Speech and Language 

therapy services as adult services use a different set of symbols to the Makaton symbols young people are 

USED฀TO฀AND฀NEED฀TO฀EMBRACE฀THE฀CONTINUING฀USE฀OF฀6/#!3฀�6OICE฀/UTPUT฀#OMMUNICATION฀!IDS	�฀

We have been provided with the current (July’12) waiting times for therapy services and some of these still 

seem unacceptably long:

 

Parent Carers’ Recommendations about Seaside View

s฀ 4HERAPY฀!SSISTANTS฀฀

Following the More Therapies report several years ago, the local authority carried out a review by an external 

consultant. One of her recommendations was to introduce therapy assistants. Whilst parents would rather have 

fully qualified therapists working with their children, there is acceptance that this is unlikely to happen given 

the current lack of additional funding. In this climate, we would welcome a renewed discussion on how therapy 

assistants could supplement the work of fully trained therapists – providing guidance to TAs and parents about 

how they can help their children in between appointments.

s฀ 4RANSPARENCY฀ABOUT฀WAITING฀TIMES฀AND฀ELIGIBILITY฀

There needs to be a coherent system (across therapy services) telling parent carers who is eligible for what 

and why and what estimated waiting times are. Parent carers need useful advice in the form of advice sheets/

parent groups (such as the Hanen Programme which was run at the child development centre in the past) to 

HELP฀THEM฀FEEL฀@SKILLED฀UP�฀TO฀HELP฀THEIR฀CHILD฀IN฀THE฀INTERIM฀PERIOD�

s฀ )NFORMATION฀AT฀3EASIDE฀6IEW฀IS฀GOOD฀BUT฀COULD฀BE฀BETTER�฀

Professionals need to ensure that they have the very latest information on different conditions and that they 

can always signpost parents to other areas of support. Whether this is locally (Amaze or local parent groups 

SUCH฀AS฀0EBBLES฀OR฀3WEET฀0EAS	฀OR฀NATIONALLY฀�WEBSITES�฀SUPPORT฀GROUPS฀SUCH฀AS฀5NIQUE�฀FOR฀CHILDREN฀WITH฀A฀

rare condition or Swan, for children with an undiagnosed condition). We understand the Council and Amaze are 

undertaking a joint project to improve web based information for parents which might help to resolve some this 

Speech and 

Language 

Therapy

referral to first 

assessment 

6 weeks

referral to first treatment 

8 weeks

Physio urgent/semi-urgent 

4-8 weeks

non-urgent 

52 weeks

Health 

OT

 

pre school children with 

complex needs as part 

of a multi-disciplinary 

assessment 

10-12 weeks

School age children  

as part of a multi-

disciplinary assessment 

22-26 weeks

 

 

pre school children with 

complex needs 

12-18 weeks

School age children 

52 weeks

Social  

Care OT

urgent needs 

5-10 days

High priority 

10-20 days

Chronological order of referral 

9-12 months

12

“OT is particularly hard to get. My child 

has cerebral palsy and severe epilepsy 

and we still struggle to get any advice 

about what do at home. The only service 

we get is that they advise school on a 

termly basis. We have sourced and paid 

for all our equipment apart from his 

commode. We would benefit from advice 

on exercises that would help with my son’s 

self help skills but this service has been 

overstretched and understaffed for as long 

as I can remember. There seems to be a 

real inequality in this service” 

23



situation but it needs to be recognised that not everyone has access to the internet. Information needs to also 

be produced in hard format.

d) GPs 

Research carried out by Contact a Family shows that 75 per cent of families with disabled children do not 

visit their GP about their condition. The relationship between families with a disabled child and their GP is 

particularly vital on many fronts particularly as children’s care is transferred to their GP at 18. GPs knowledge 

base is understandably wide and their in depth knowledge about specific medical conditions can be limited. For 

children who have learning difficulties and/or other medical needs but are not eligible for a paediatrician, the 

GP is absolutely the key medical figure in that child’s life. 

Positive findings

 

s฀ )NNOVATIVE฀LOCAL฀SOLUTIONS

Parent carers reported that some GPs offered services that were making a real difference to families. Such 

services included an Online booking appointment system for GPs, a drop in clinic for children, a separate room 

ORGANISED฀FOR฀CHILD฀WITH฀CHALLENGING฀BEHAVIOUR�฀@TELEPHONE�฀APPOINTMENTS฀AND฀HOME฀VISITS�฀

s฀ '0S฀SEE฀THE฀FAMILY฀AS฀A฀WHOLE

0ARENT฀CARERS฀REPORTED฀THAT฀THEIR฀'0฀WAS฀VERY฀HOLISTIC�฀SEEING฀THE฀FAMILY฀AS฀A฀WHOLE฀AND฀GAVE฀@CARERS�฀SUPPORT�฀

&AMILIES฀REPORTED฀BEING฀REGULARLY฀ASKED฀HOW฀@THEIR�฀HEALTH฀WAS฀AS฀THE฀MAIN฀PARENT฀CARER�฀'0S฀ALSO฀GOT฀INVOLVED฀

in much needed referrals for respite. Parent carers reported GPs asking if they got enough respite and if they 

could write letters to support their access to more help. 

s฀ 3OME฀'0S฀ARE฀TAKING฀ANNUAL฀HEALTH฀CHECKS฀SERIOUSLY

All adults and young people in transition will have to have annual health check and some GPs are ahead of the 

game on this. One parent carer reported that her daughter had already had a health check at 14. It is hoped 

that health checks will pick up health problems that may have gone unnoticed or undiagnosed. 

Areas for Improvement

s฀ '0S฀SOMETIMES฀LACKED฀KNOWLEDGE฀ABOUT฀SPECIALIST฀SERVICES

0ARENT฀CARERS฀REPORTED฀HAVING฀TO฀@FIGHT�฀TO฀BE฀REFERRED฀TO฀SPECIALISTS฀OR฀THAT฀'0S฀KNEW฀NOTHING฀ABOUT฀THE฀

variety of specialist services which might be available. Parent carers may find visiting their GP so stressful 

and demoralising that they avoided taking their young person to their GP. This sometimes resulted in a child 

becoming very ill before their parent accessed medical health. Some parent carers reported going to A&E as 

an alternative. 

s฀ 0RESCRIPTION฀ERRORS

Parent carers reported incidences where the GP had written a prescription for their child which was inaccurate. 

Medication and dosages had been changed by specialist consultants who had not communicated this change 

to the GP. There seemed to be an understanding that parent carers would update the GP which was felt 

inappropriate. One parent carer reported that her GP was brilliant at double checking medication but that the 

labels on the bottles of medicine were often out of date and inaccurate.

s฀ )NCONSISTENCY฀ACROSS฀THE฀CITY

Whilst some parent carers reported that they had a very good relationship with their GP, others find it 

problematic. One parent reported that her son, who was on the autistic spectrum, did not have a community 

PAEDIATRICIAN฀AND฀THAT฀SHE฀ONLY฀TOOK฀HIM฀TO฀THE฀'0฀IF฀HE฀WAS฀@REALLY฀ILL�฀AS฀HE฀HAD฀LITTLE฀UNDERSTANDING฀OF฀HER฀

son’s complex needs. Also, out of hours doctors didn’t always know the family history and needed to ensure 

that they respect the views of parent carers. When visiting the surgery, parents reported differing experiences 

of their initial contact with reception staff. There was a lack of understanding and, as one parent put it a “can’t 

do” attitude. 

13

“My son has a very complex health 

problem. Our GP knows him really well. 

But the problem is when you see a 

locum GP out of hours. Our son needs 

antibiotics at the first sign of a chest 

infection as, otherwise, it can turn into a 

life threatening problem and he ends up 

in hospital for weeks needing suction. 

A locum GP told us that he was not ‘ill’ 

enough for antibiotics.” 

24



s฀ 3OME฀'0S฀DO฀NOT฀@TAKE฀CARE�฀OF฀THE฀WHOLE฀FAMILY฀

Many GPs do not realise that they have a statutory responsibility for the health of parent carers. 

When young people reach 18 the main professional becomes the GP. In the lead up to this, if families and 

young people have not built up a relationship with their GP this transition is problematic because the GP does 

not always have enough understanding and knowledge about their complex medical condition. This did not 

give families confidence in the GP’s ability to look after their young person. Challenges were also faced by 

parents whose children were 16 and had learning difficulties . They were not able to take responsibility for their 

own health needs and parents found that professionals who lacked knowledge in this area were asking them to 

do things they were not allowed to do. 

Parent Carer Recommendations about GPs

s฀ !฀ROUTE฀MAP฀OF฀SERVICES฀THAT฀WILL฀GIVE฀'0S฀INFORMATION฀AND฀POINTS฀OF฀REFERRAL฀TO฀SPECIALIST฀SERVICES฀WHEN฀A฀

parent goes to them for a consultation. This information also needs to be given to the parent so that they have 

a clear idea of possible wider medical concerns. Information could be provided by Amaze.

s฀ $ISABLED฀CHILDREN฀NEED฀TO฀BE฀PRIORITISED

Waiting times should be reduced. Disabled parking bays need to be provided routinely outside GP surgeries. If 

access is not possible, then provision needs to be made for disabled patients to park in the private GP car park. 

s฀ (OME฀VISITS฀GIVEN฀ROUTINELY฀TO฀CHILDREN฀WITH฀DISABILITIES฀AND฀3%.฀WHO฀FIND฀IT฀DIFFICULT฀TO฀SUCCESSFULLY฀VISIT฀THE฀

surgery. More thought must be given to out of hours GP services to allow families that have difficulty accessing 

the services during the day time to go to the GP when the surgery is also less busy. 

s฀ 4RAINING฀FOR฀'0S฀AND฀FAMILIES฀ON฀POWER฀OF฀ATTORNEY�MENTAL฀CAPACITY฀ACT฀SO฀THAT฀FAMILIES฀ARE฀CLEAR฀ABOUT฀THEIR฀

responsibilities and GPs do not put families in a difficult position by asking them to make decisions for their 

young person that they have no power to act on in the eyes of the law. GPs also need to be given the parent 

journey training alongside other professional so that they can empathise with families who have a caring role.

s฀ !฀HOLISTIC฀APPROACH฀NEEDED฀BY฀ALL฀'0S�฀

They have a duty to look after parent carers too and should routinely look at their health/coping capacity. GPs 

should produce a protocol to ensure that the needs of the wider family are taken in to consideration when a 

young person visits the GP. 

s฀ 4RANSPARENCY฀AND฀COMMUNICATION

Eligibility for referrals needs to be clearly explained to parents. All communication from specialist consultants 

should be routinely copied to parents and the child’s GP. There needs to be really careful monitoring of 

medication and communication between the parent, GP and the pharmacist. This is particularly pertinent when 

new medications are introduced or doses are changed. GPs, pharmacists and specialist consultants need 

to routinely review the medication and ensure all labels are up to date and accurate. Many children receive 

respite care in other settings and inaccurate labelling could lead to medication errors resulting in serious harm. 

Information stored in the All About Me document needs to be transferred so that it includes the out of hours 

service provided by the GP.

s฀ (EALTH฀REFORMS
฀NEED฀A฀PARENT฀VOICE฀

The new CCG is currently consulting on how to engage patient populations and are keen to develop Patient 

Participation Groups (PPGs) at GP practice level. Amaze has fed into this consultation that it is very unlikely 

PPGs will be accessible to parent carers so there needs to be other attempts made to hear their voices. We 

suggest Amaze and the PaCC can represent parent carer views on a city-wide basis and we should be invited 

onto key strategic decision making groups where possible to present these views and be influential at service 

design.

14

“My GP is very helpful but there is little 

recognition of the emotional and mental 

problems that go with a disability, both 

for the young person and the parent. Also, 

appointment times are too short when your 

child has such complex difficulties. GPs 

need improve how they signpost to other 

agencies” 

“I am hugely worried about transferring 

care to the GP. My son is unable to wait 

in a waiting room, there is no disabled 

parking at my GP and he has not specialist 

knowledge of learning disability. One 

parent I know had an awful experience 

when her child had to stay in the car, as 

they were restrained, in order to be seen 

by their GP.”

25



s฀ %XTEND฀EXAMPLES฀OF฀GOOD฀PRACTICE฀THAT฀ARE฀MAKING฀A฀REAL฀DIFFERENCE฀TO฀ALL฀'0฀SURGERIES�฀

Code of practice for disabled children and their families to be disseminated throughout. 

s฀ '0S฀WHO฀ARE฀RESPONSIBLE฀FOR฀A฀CHILD฀WITH฀A฀LEARNING฀DIFFICULTY฀OR฀OTHER฀SPECIAL฀NEED฀THAT฀DO฀NOT฀HAVE฀A฀

specialist paediatrician, need extra support and training. 

They are the key person and need to be supported to fulfil this role. This group should be earmarked and 

liaise with each other and access specialist training (e.g.: training on the autistic spectrum, how children with 

communication difficulties express pain and so on…). This could be done through the Nurse Consultant at RACH. 

15

26



So what are the priorities for parents? Often, it is not blue sky stuff, such as a magical cure or revolutionary 

new treatment, but the less measurable, subtler nuances of care. Parents, who are at the coal face after all, 

experience the care, rather than live it. It is an emotional journey that is their daily life.

a) Parent Participation

i. A seat for parent carer (PaCC) representatives on the new Health And Wellbeing Board, Children’s Committee, 

and Clinical Commissioning Group’s Children’s Review Board. The parent carer voice needs to be represented 

at the highest level in order to work in partnership to drive improvement in health services for the most 

vulnerable children in our local community. This is a vital starting point. 

ii. Recognise the value of parent participation and partnership working and invest in it

As mentioned earlier in the report, the PaCC (receives some funding for its engagement activity via the PCT 

(now emerging CCG) but this contract will expire at the end of March’13. It is vital that the CCG can replace 

and if possible increase this funding so that this group of disadvantaged children can be well represented by 

their parent carers.

Indeed we are keen to reach more families who are not currently engaged with the work of PaCC and Amaze 

to improve our ability to represent the full diversity of needs across the City, but additional funding is required 

to do so. We believe Public Health should match the investment in the PaCC that the PCT/CCG makes in order 

for us to help them in their target to reduce health inequalities for this group further.

iii. Recognise and value the parent carers’ role as child’s keyworker in health care provision

/UR฀COMMENTS฀COME฀FROM฀OUR฀PROVEN฀EXPERTISE฀OF฀BEING฀THE฀@KEY฀WORKER�฀AND฀DELIVERERS฀OF฀HEALTH฀CARE�฀

therapies, education and emotional care to our children 24/7, 365 days a year, for their childhood, through 

their adolescence and often for many decades of their adult lives.

Navigating the health care system is not a skill that parents of disabled children are born with. It is one that 

THEY฀HAVE฀TO฀LEARN฀@ON฀THE฀JOB�฀�A฀JOB฀THEY฀DID฀NOT฀APPLY฀FORx	�฀4HEY฀FIND฀THAT�฀NOT฀ONLY฀DO฀THEY฀NEED฀TO฀ADJUST฀

TO฀NEW฀PARENTHOOD฀BUT฀THEY฀NEED฀TO฀ADJUST฀TO฀THEIR฀ROLE฀AS฀A฀@PARENT฀CARER��฀0ARENTS฀DESCRIBE฀THEMSELVES฀AS฀

having to be multi-skilled and have almost super human powers of resilience. 

iv. CAMHS Parent Carer review

Parent carers need to work in partnership with CAMHS to review transparency and communication across the 

service at all tiers. 

v. Service evaluations and user satisfaction surveys

)T฀IS฀GOOD฀PRACTICE฀FOR฀@CUSTOMERS�฀TO฀BE฀ASKED฀WHAT฀THEY฀THOUGHT฀ABOUT฀A฀PARTICULAR฀SERVICE฀AND฀ALL฀HEALTH฀

services should be asking for feedback as a matter of course. A standardised form could be developed 

and then rolled out across all services, including health. These would need to be allowed to be completed 

anonymously and sent into a centralised research team and results presented to the new Health and Well-

Being board.

In addition, all the health services discussed here should be encouraged to invite pairs of parent carers to 

independently assess their service using the Partnership Charter. CAMHS has already asked and is due to be 

evaluated in the autumn of 2012. The (0-3) star ratings should also be made public and presented to the 

Health and Well-Being Board, Children’s Committee and other key groups and communicated to families via 

the Amaze newsletter and most importantly by the service itself.

5. Conclusions and Parent Carer’s Key Recommendations

16

27



b) Increased resource for services

i. Bolster Community Support

Support in the community is very powerful, supports the principles of early intervention and is cost effective. 

For example, a specialist epilepsy nurse (which Brighton & Hove does not have in paediatrics) would give 

much needed support in the community. This would cut down visits to A&E, 999 calls, the input needed by 

community paediatricians and greatly reduce stress levels within families who have children with very complex 

epilepsy. The community nursing team gives invaluable support to children and keeps them out of hospital but 

they are under resourced and sometimes can’t make it to families when needed. Specialist Health visitors are a 

KEY฀PROFESSIONAL฀AT฀THE฀VERY฀EARLY฀STAGES฀AND฀OFFER฀VITAL฀@EARLY฀SUPPORT�฀BUT฀THERE฀ARE฀ONLY฀TWO฀OF฀THEM฀AND฀MANY฀

children cannot access their help. We need more specialist nurses and specialist health visitors (with greater 

focus on disabled children) working in the community to support our most vulnerable families optimise their 

health chances. 

ii. Paediatric Disability Liaison Post at the RACH

Parents need somebody to liaise with over their child’s stay in hospital. At the moment, the hospital experience 

is not consistent. Such a post would greatly improve the experience of children with disabilities and young 

people and their families. This would reduce complaints and reduce stress levels in already over stretched 

services.

iii. Where necessary parents should be allocated a key worker

(OWEVER�฀PARENTS฀FEEL฀THEY฀ARE฀OFTEN฀EXPECTED฀TO฀BRING฀EVERYTHING฀TOGETHER�฀IN฀A฀@KEY฀WORKER�฀TYPE฀ROLE�฀AND฀THIS฀

is not always possible e.g. many parent carers might also have a disability or health concern of their own, there 

are other siblings to care for etc. Indeed, the ability of a parent carer to navigate all the health services their 

CHILD฀NEEDS�฀MIGHT฀BE฀MORE฀OR฀LESS฀DO
ABLE฀DEPENDING฀ON฀WHERE฀THEY฀ARE฀ON฀THEIR฀CARER฀JOURNEY@�

As such, some parent carers are unable to take on this keyworker role and in some instances this is not 

appropriate. This will be even more necessary with the implementation of the new Single Plan.

iv. The need to invest in parent carers’ resilience

We also need to be very mindful of the health of the whole family. Families who have a child or young person 

with a disability or special need experience immense levels of stress. Research by Contact a Family reveals 

that 49 per cent of the parents surveyed had been to their GP about feelings of depression and isolation and 

received either medication or counselling. In Brighton & Hove, 52 per cent of all carers have been treated for 

stress related illness. 

-ANY฀PARENT฀CARERS฀IN฀THE฀0A##฀HAVE฀ATTENDED฀THE฀!MAZE฀@,OOKING฀!FTER฀9OU�฀AND฀@)NSIDERS�฀'UIDE฀n฀"UILDING฀

Resilience’ 6 weeks courses which have been highly evaluated as invaluable by parent carers as they tackle 

feelings of isolation and provide techniques and strategies for dealing with everyday situations, asking for help 

and building their family’s resilience. The PaCC would like to see these courses being built into the Amaze core 

FUNDING฀SO฀THEY฀CAN฀BE฀OFFERED฀TO฀FAMILIES฀EACH฀YEAR�฀AND฀DELIVERED฀IN฀@HARDER฀TO฀REACH�฀NEIGHBOURHOODS฀WHERE฀

families may be more at risk of crisis.

c) Improved Communication and Transparency 

i. Improved Communication about services, eligibility and waiting lists

Parents would like to see improved communication between GPs, consultants, hospital departments 

and families. Parent carers would like to be routinely copied in to any correspondence written by these 

professionals. They would also like to be kept informed of the eligibility criteria for services provision and the 

LENGTH฀OF฀WAITING฀LISTS฀SO฀THAT฀EXPECTATIONS฀OF฀SERVICE฀DELIVERY฀TIMES฀CAN฀BE฀REALISTIC�฀0ARENT฀CARERS฀ARE฀STILL฀@IN฀THE฀

dark’ across many services about who is and who isn’t eligible and how long they will have to wait to receive 

a service. This needs to be urgently tackled so that there is absolute transparency for families from the outset. 

Greater transparency of the services provided will ultimately lead to increased confidence in the system and 

fewer complaints. 

“I am my daughter’s nurse, her 

psychologist, her OT, her speech and 

language therapist, her gastroenterologist, 

he epilepsy specialist, her teacher, her 

advocate, her pharmacist, her PA… I am 

everything in my daughter’s world and it 

takes enormous amounts of energy and 

resilience to keep everything together. 

Sometimes, I just want to be her mummy.”

17

28



ii. Therapy waiting times

This is still a problem despite therapy services being the subject of the first PaCC report in 2009 and 

subsequent internal and external reviews following this. We need to reduce waiting times urgently and be 

transparent with families about why the waiting times are so long. 

iii. Training opportunities extended to all staff in the health care profession

4HE฀0A##฀WOULD฀LIKE฀TO฀SEE฀THE฀@0ARENT�S฀*OURNEY�฀ADAPTED฀INTO฀MANDATORY฀TRAINING฀FOR฀ALL฀HEALTH฀CARE฀

professionals working with children with disabilities and complex health needs. This will give professional a 

much better understanding of the context that being a parent carer has e.g. practical difficulties as well as 

emotional and physical demands. This would result in fewer complaints and much improved communication 

between the medical profession and families.

iv. GPs and transition

There needs to be a city wide code of good practice for GPs on disabled children’s transition. Too many GPs 

lack an understanding of their young people who have a disability or special need and this can be calamitous 

WHEN฀THEY฀TAKE฀OVER฀THEIR฀@CARE�฀AT฀���฀

Content provided by parent carers, compiled by:

Amanda Mortensen – Chair of PaCC

Debbie Collins – Amaze Parent Participation Officer

Rachel Travers – Amaze CEO

July 2012

  

18

“As a Parent Carer, years are spent in an 

adrenalin-fuelled, ‘flight or fight’ mode. 

Life is truly a rollercoaster of emotion. 

I have seen many families break down 

under the stress of it all and most of my 

friends, who are parent carers, are on 

(or have been on) antidepressants and 

have regular counselling to cope with the 

immense pressures they face parenting 

their child.”

29



Appendix 1

Partnership Charter Outline

The Parent Carer Partnership Charter comprises 4 staged elements, each the result from extensive consultation 

and each supported by full documentation. They are:-

s฀ 0ARTNERSHIP฀3TANDARDS฀SHORT฀CHECKLIST฀

s฀ 0ARENT฀CARER฀STAR฀ASSESSMENTS

s฀ 0ARTNERSHIP฀3TANDARDS฀FULL฀CHECKLIST

s฀ $ISABLED฀#HILDREN฀)NTEGRATED฀3ERVICES฀ACTION฀PLANNING฀STRATEGY

5NDER฀EACH฀OF฀THE฀CORE฀OFFER฀STANDARDS฀THE฀0ARENT฀#ARER฀0ARTNERSHIP฀#HARTER฀SETS฀OUT฀DELIVERY฀MILESTONES฀IN฀

THREE฀CATEGORIES�฀@AT฀BASIC฀STAGE��฀@IN฀DEVELOPMENT��฀AND฀@ADVANCED�฀n฀TO฀GIVE฀CLARITY฀TO฀LOCAL฀AREAS฀ABOUT฀WHAT฀

they need to do in order to meet the core offer standards. The milestones:

s฀ @AT฀BASIC฀STAGE�฀WILL฀HAVE฀BEEN฀MET฀BY฀LOCAL฀AREAS฀JUST฀BEGINNING฀TO฀THINK฀ABOUT฀AND฀PLAN฀SERVICES฀THAT฀DELIVER฀

on the core offer. 

s฀ @IN฀DEVELOPMENT�฀WILL฀RELATE฀TO฀LOCAL฀AREAS฀THAT฀HAVE฀PROGRESSED฀FURTHER฀AND฀HAVE฀MANY฀OF฀THE฀NECESSARY฀

elements in place. 

s฀ @ADVANCED�฀WILL฀HAVE฀BEEN฀MET฀BY฀LOCAL฀AREAS฀WHO฀ARE฀FULLY฀DELIVERING฀ON฀THE฀CORE฀OFFER฀STANDARDS�฀WITH฀

families firmly at the heart of their service planning and delivery.

This document will continue to be updated as practice develops.

The aim is to provide a constructive vehicle for on-going improvement in quality of partnership working 

between families of disabled children and service providers across all sectors. The function of the Partnership 

Standards is to provide an agreed baseline of good practice in partnership working and offer a constructive 

framework for on-going service improvement. 

Key Features and Characteristics

The key elements which we believe are integral to the Parent Carer Partnership Charter and which we believe 

define it as a product are:

a. Defining and agreeing the standards and process in partnership with parents right from the start of the 

project

b. Training up of parent ambassadors to carry out the assessments, with this role being paid for in line with the 

Amaze Parent Engagement Policy, recognising parents as equal professionals. The Parent Ambassadors are 

suitably supported, supervised and accountable.

c. Positive assessment approach focussing on identified strengths as well as areas for development and 

allowing for the development of a relationship and dialogue between professionals and parents

d. The assessment findings are published an transparent including an agreed plan of actions with commitment 

where improvements are needed

Appendices

19

30



 Appendix 2

 

Appendix 3

+EY฀SENIOR฀OFFICERS�PROFESSIONALS฀ATTENDING฀THE฀@4ALK฀(EALTH�฀EVENT฀WERE�

For RACH:

Janet Lee

Linda Gilmour

For CAMHS:

Tim Ojo

Peter Joyce

For Seaside View:

Jenny Brickell

Sian Bennett

Tracey Young

For GPs:

Dr Xavier Nalletamby

20

31



32



A
m

a
z
e

p
ro

v
id

e
s
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
, 
a
d

v
ic

e
 a

n
d

 s
u
p

p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

p
a

re
n

ts
 o

f 
c
h

ild
re

n
 w

it
h

 
s
p

e
c
ia

l 
n

e
e
d

s
 a

n
d

 d
is

a
b

ili
ti
e

s
 i
n

 B
ri

g
h

to
n
 &

 H
o

v
e

.

T
h

e
 P

a
re

n
t 

C
a

re
rs

’
C

o
u

n
c

il
 i
s
 t
h

e
 l
o

c
a

l 
fo

ru
m

 a
n

d
 v

o
ic

e
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n

ti
n

g
 t
h

e
 

v
ie

w
s
 o

f 
p
a

re
n

t 
c
a

re
rs

 o
n

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 t
h

e
ir

 d
is

a
b

le
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
 r

e
c
e

iv
e

. 
It
 i
s
 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 A

m
a

z
e

.

��
��
��

�
��
�
�
	

	�
�
�
�

�
	

	�
�
�
�
�
��
	

	�
�
��
�
�	
�
�
��
�

��
�
��
�
�

33



�
�
�
�
�	
�
�
�
�
�
	�
�
�
	�
�
�
	�
�
�
�

•
P

a
re

n
t-

le
d

 i
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
c
h

a
ri

ty
 s

in
c
e

 1
9

9
7

•
M

is
s
io

n
 -

e
m

p
o

w
e

rm
e

n
t 

o
f 

p
a

re
n

ts
 a

n
d

 b
u

ild
in

g
 t

h
e

ir
 

c
a

p
a

c
it
y
 a

n
d

 r
e

s
ili

e
n

c
e

•
P

ro
v
id

e
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
, 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 a

d
v
ic

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 

p
a

re
n

ts
 o

f 
d

is
a

b
le

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

 e
.g

. 
4

,0
0

0
 c

a
lls

 p
e

r 
a

n
n

u
m

 

to
 h

e
lp

lin
e

 (
8

6
%

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 5
 y

e
a

rs
)

•
M

a
n

a
g

e
 c

it
y
’s

 d
is

a
b

ili
ty

 r
e

g
is

te
r 

–
T

h
e

 C
o

m
p

a
s
s
 –

h
a

s
 i
n

 

d
e

p
th

 d
e

ta
ils

 o
f 

1
,8

0
0

 c
h

ild
re

n

•
S

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
e

 P
a

C
C

 –
th

e
 l
o

c
a

l 
fo

ru
m

 f
o

r 
p

a
re

n
t 

c
a

re
r,

 n
o

w
 

1
9

0
 p

a
re

n
t 

m
e

m
b

e
rs

 a
n

d
 7

 p
a

rt
n

e
r 

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
s

•
P

a
re

n
t 

re
p

re
s
e

n
ta

ti
v
e

s
 a

re
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
e

d
 t

o
 s

it
 o

n
 1

2
+

 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

, 
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
, 

d
e

c
is

io
n

 m
a

k
in

g
, 

b
o

a
rd

s
 a

n
d

 

s
u

b
g

ro
u

p
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e

 c
it
y

•
R

e
p

o
rt

s
 p

u
b

lis
h

e
d

:

–
M

o
re

 T
h

e
ra

p
ie

s
 2

0
0

9

–
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 S
p

e
c
ia

l 
E

d
u
c
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
N

e
e

d
s
 2

0
1

0

–
T

a
lk

 H
e

a
lt
h

 2
0

1
2

“T
o
 b

e
 a

 g
o
o
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
r 

o
f 
y
o
u
r 

c
h
ild

, 
y
o
u
 n

e
e
d
 g

re
a
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 
y
o
u
rs

e
lf
”.

34



•
H

ig
h

 c
o

s
t,

 h
ig

h
 i
n
c
id

e
n

t 
u

s
e

rs
 o

f 
h

e
a

lt
h

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s

•
A

 r
a

n
g

e
 o

f 
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
h

e
a

lt
h

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

re
 r

e
q

u
ir

e
d

 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 

u
n

iv
e

rs
a
l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
, 

s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 

s
p

e
c
if
ic

s

•
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 m

u
s
t 

a
c
ti
v
e
ly

 s
e

e
k
 t

h
e

 v
ie

w
s
 o

f 
th

e
s
e

 y
o

u
n

g
 

p
a

ti
e

n
ts

, 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
ir

 p
a

re
n

t 
c
a

re
rs

, 
to

 e
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
ir

 

e
x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 o
f 

h
e

a
lt
h

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

re
 a

s
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 a

s
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 

a
n

d
 a

c
h

ie
v
e

: 

–
M

o
re

 e
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
u
s
e
 a

n
d
 t
a
rg

e
ti
n
g
 o

f 
s
c
a
rc

e
 h

e
a
lt
h
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

–
Im

p
ro

v
e
d
 q

u
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 ‘
fi
t’

o
f 
s
e
rv

ic
e

–
G

re
a
te

r 
u
s
e
r 

s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 f
e
w

e
r 

c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

•
S

h
o

u
ld

 b
e

 a
 f

o
c
u

s
 o

n
 r

e
d

u
c
in

g
 h

e
a

lt
h

 i
n

e
q

u
a
lit

ie
s
 (

a
s
 f

a
r 

a
s
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
) 

in
 t

h
is

 p
o

p
u
la

ti
o

n

•
F

e
e

d
 i
n

to
 t

h
e

 C
it
y
’s

 J
o

in
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 N
e

e
d

s
 A

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 

(J
S

N
A

) 
a

n
d

 n
e

w
 H

e
a

lt
h

 a
n

d
 W

e
ll-

B
e

in
g

 B
o

a
rd

�
�


�
�
	�
�
	�
�
�
��
�

“I
 w

o
u
ld

n
’t
 s

w
a
p
 y

o
u
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

w
o
rl
d
…

e
x
c
e
p
t 
fo

r 
w

h
e
n
 y

o
u
 w

a
k
e
 

u
p
 a

t 
m

id
n
ig

h
t…

2
.1

5
a
m

…
3
.3

0
a
m

…
4
a
m

”

35



�
	�
�
��
�
�
�
�	
�
��
��

36



1
) 

R
A

C
H

 +
v
e

+
v
e
: 

R
A

C
H

 w
a

s
 a

 f
a
n
ta

s
ti
c
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
 t

o
 h

a
v
e

 o
n
 

d
o
o
rs

te
p
, 

w
it
h

o
u
t 

h
a
v
in

g
 t

o
 t

ra
v
e
l 
o
u
t 

o
f 

a
re

a
. 

N
e

w
 c

h
ild

re
n
’s

 A
&

E
 d

e
p
a
rt

m
e

n
t 

v
e
ry

 w
e

ll 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
.

+
v
e
: 

V
e
ry

 p
o
s
it
iv

e
 a

b
o

u
t 

th
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 n

u
rs

in
g
 t

e
a
m

+
v
e
: 

D
e

p
a
rt

m
e

n
ts

 p
ro

v
id

in
g
 a

n
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 

�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “I

 w
a
s
 a

t 
c
ri
s
is

 p
o
in

t 
w

h
e
n
 I
 

fo
u
n
d
 A

m
a

ze
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
ro

m
 

th
is

 o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 l
it
e
ra

lly
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 o

u
r 

liv
e
s
, 
w

e
 o

w
e
 

th
e
m

 s
o
 m

u
c
h
!”

37



1
) 

R
A

C
H

 -
v
e

-v
e

: 
M

o
n
it
o
re

d
 f

o
r 

lo
n
g
 p

e
ri

o
d

s
 o

f 
ti
m

e
 b

e
fo

re
 a

n
y
 

fi
rm

 ‘
d
ia

g
n
o
s
is

’

-v
e

: 
M

ix
e
d
 w

a
rd

s
 a

n
d
 t

ra
n
s
it
io

n
 a

n
x
ie

ty
 

-v
e

: 
C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 d
if
fe

re
n
t 

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a

ls
 

w
a

s
 o

ft
e
n
 p

o
o
r

-v
e

: 
H

a
v
e
 t

o
 r

e
p
e
a
t 

th
e
ir
 ‘
s
to

ry
; 

o
v
e
r 

a
n

d
 o

v
e
r 

a
g
a
in

-v
e

: 
S

o
m

e
 n

u
rs

e
s
 l
a
c
k
e
d
 b

a
s
ic

 d
is

a
b

ili
ty

 a
w

a
re

n
e
s
s
 

o
r 

u
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 o

f 
p
a
re

n
t 

c
a

re
r 

e
x
p
e
ri

e
n
c
e

s
 i
n
 

h
o
s
p
it
a

l

-v
e

: 
S

o
m

e
 c

o
n

s
u
lt
a
n
ts

 c
o
u
ld

 b
e
 p

a
tr

o
n

is
in

g
 o

r 
d
is

ta
n
t

�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “I

 w
a
s
 a

t 
c
ri
s
is

 p
o
in

t 
w

h
e
n
 I
 

fo
u
n
d
 A

m
a

ze
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
ro

m
 

th
is

 o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 l
it
e
ra

lly
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 o

u
r 

liv
e
s
, 
w

e
 o

w
e
 

th
e
m

 s
o
 m

u
c
h
!”

38



1
) 

R
A

C
H

 -
s
u

g
g

e
s
ti

o
n

s

?
 P

a
rk

in
g
 p

ri
o
ri

ty
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 g

iv
e
n
 t

o
 t

h
o
s
e
 w

it
h
 a

 

d
is

a
b

le
d
 b

a
d
g

e
  

a
llo

w
in

g
 t

h
e
m

 t
o
 q

u
e
u
e
 j
u
m

p

?
 P

a
re

n
t 

c
a
re

r 
in

v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 

in
 r

e
g
u
la

r 
g
ro

u
p
s
 

?
 P

a
re

n
t 

jo
u
rn

e
y
 t

ra
in

in
g
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

?
 ‘
A

ll 
A

b
o
u
t 

M
e

’
D

o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 

?
 D

is
a
b
le

d
 c

h
ild

re
n
 g

iv
e
n
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

?
 S

p
e
c
ia

lis
t 

d
is

a
b
ili

ty
 l
ia

is
o
n
 n

u
rs

e
s

�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “I

 w
a
s
 a

t 
c
ri
s
is

 p
o
in

t 
w

h
e
n
 I
 

fo
u
n
d
 A

m
a

ze
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
ro

m
 

th
is

 o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 l
it
e
ra

lly
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 o

u
r 

liv
e
s
, 
w

e
 o

w
e
 

th
e
m

 s
o
 m

u
c
h
!”

39



�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “W

e
 s

p
e
n
d
 a

 l
o
t 
o
f 
ti
m

e
 f
e
e
lin

g
 

a
s
 i
f 
w

e
 a

re
 i
n
 a

 p
a
ra

lle
l 

u
n
iv

e
rs

e
 a

n
d
 t
h
a
t 
w

e
’r
e
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

o
u
ts

id
e
 o

f 
lif

e
 l
o
o
k
in

g
 i
n
.”

2
) 

C
A

M
H

S
 +

v
e
 a

n
d

 -
v
e

+
v
e
: 

T
h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
s
 l
is

te
n
in

g
 t

o
 p

a
re

n
t 

c
a
re

r 
c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
n
d
 i
s
 k

e
e

n
 t

o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 i
ts

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
o
rk

in
g
 

w
it
h
 p

a
re

n
ts

 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t

h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
. 

-v
e

: 
T

h
e
 w

a
it
in

g
 t

im
e
 f

o
r 

a
n
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

is
 t

o
o
 l
o
n

g
 

(a
n
d
 n

o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n
 t

h
e

 m
e
a
n
ti
m

e
)

-v
e

: 
P

a
re

n
ts

 w
e
re

 n
o
t 

e
m

p
o

w
e
re

d
 o

r 
tr

e
a
te

d
 a

s
 

e
q
u
a

ls
 i
n
 t

h
e
ir
 c

h
ild

’s
 c

a
re

 

-v
e

: 
T

ra
n
s
p
a
re

n
c
y
 w

a
s
 p

o
o
r

40



�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “W

e
 s

p
e
n
d
 a

 l
o
t 
o
f 
ti
m

e
 f
e
e
lin

g
 

a
s
 i
f 
w

e
 a

re
 i
n
 a

 p
a
ra

lle
l 

u
n
iv

e
rs

e
 a

n
d
 t
h
a
t 
w

e
’r
e
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

o
u
ts

id
e
 o

f 
lif

e
 l
o
o
k
in

g
 i
n
.”

2
) 

C
A

M
H

S
 -

s
u

g
g

e
s
ti

o
n

s

?
B

e
tt

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

?
E

x
te

n
d
 t

h
e
 C

Y
P

O
S

C
 u

s
e
r 

s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 s

u
rv

e
y
 

?
T

ra
n
s
p
a
re

n
c
y
 a

b
o
u
t 

p
a
th

w
a

y
s
 o

f 
c
a
re

 a
n

d
 w

a
it
in

g
 

ti
m

e
s
. 

?
T

ra
in

in
g
 f

o
r 

p
s
y
c
h

ia
tr

is
ts

 i
n
 t

h
e
 p

a
re

n
t 

jo
u
rn

e
y

?
A

u
ti
s
m

 s
p
e
c
ia

lis
t 

n
e
e

d
e
d
 

?
 B

e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

n
e

tw
o
rk

 f
o
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 w

it
h
 s

e
v
e
re

 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
ra

l 
d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
 

41



3
) 

S
e
a
s
id

e
 V

ie
w

 +
v
e

+
v
e
: 

T
h
e
 c

o
o
rd

in
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 

b
e
tw

e
e

n
 p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

ls
 a

t 
S

e
a

s
id

e
 V

ie
w

 w
a

s
 v

e
ry

 

g
o
o
d

+
v
e
: 

P
e
rs

o
n
a
b

le
 a

n
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
a
b
le

 s
ta

ff

+
v
e
: 

E
x
c
e
lle

n
t 

te
a
m

 o
f 

p
a
e
d
ia

tr
ic

ia
n
s

+
v
e
: 

K
e

y
w

o
rk

e
rs

 a
n
d
 S

p
e
c
ia

lis
t 

H
e
a
lt
h
 V

is
it
o

rs
 

�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “B

e
in

g
 a

 p
a
re

n
t 
to

 m
y
 c

h
ild

 i
s
 a

n
 

h
o
n
o
u
r 

a
n
d
 a

 p
le

a
s
u
re

 –
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 

m
y
 c

h
ild

 h
a
s
 t
u
rn

e
d
 m

y
 l
if
e
 u

p
s
id

e
 

d
o
w

n
 w

e
 w

o
u
ld

n
’t
  
h
a
v
e
 h

a
d
 i
t 
a
n
y
 

o
th

e
r 

w
a
y
.”

42



3
) 

S
e
a
s
id

e
 V

ie
w

 -
v
e

-v
e

: 
L
a
c
k
 o

f 
tr

a
n
s
p
a
re

n
c
y
 a

b
o

u
t 

w
a

it
in

g
 t

im
e

s

-v
e

: 
C

o
u

ld
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 s

ig
n

p
o
s
ti
n

g

-v
e

: 
H

u
g

e
 d

e
la

y
s
 i
n
 e

q
u
ip

m
e
n

t 

-v
e

: 
S

ig
n

if
ic

a
n
t 

p
ro

b
le

m
s
 s

ti
ll 

e
x
is

t 
w

it
h
 t

h
e
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
th

e
ra

p
ie

s
 (

c
o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
, 

tr
a
n
s
p
a
re

n
c
y
, 

w
a

it
in

g
 t

im
e
s
)

�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “B

e
in

g
 a

 p
a
re

n
t 
to

 m
y
 c

h
ild

 i
s
 a

n
 

h
o
n
o
u
r 

a
n
d
 a

 p
le

a
s
u
re

 –
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 

m
y
 c

h
ild

 h
a
s
 t
u
rn

e
d
 m

y
 l
if
e
 u

p
s
id

e
 

d
o
w

n
 w

e
 w

o
u
ld

n
’t
  
h
a
v
e
 h

a
d
 i
t 
a
n
y
 

o
th

e
r 

w
a
y
.”

43



3
) 

S
e
a
s
id

e
 V

ie
w

 -
s
u

g
g

e
s
ti

o
n

s

?
 T

ri
a
l 
in

n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
e
s
 t

o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 w

a
it
in

g
 

ti
m

e
s
 e

.g
. 
T

h
e
ra

p
y
 A

s
s
is

ta
n
ts

  

?
 T

ra
n
s
p
a
re

n
c
y
 a

b
o
u
t 

w
a
it
in

g
 t

im
e
s
 a

n
d
 e

lig
ib

ili
ty

 

a
n
d
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
e
x
e
rc

is
e
s
/a

d
v
ic

e
 w

h
ils

t 
w

a
it
in

g

?
 I

n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
S

e
a
s
id

e
 V

ie
w

 i
s
 g

o
o
d
 b

u
t 

c
o

u
ld

 

b
e
 b

e
tt

e
r

�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “B

e
in

g
 a

 p
a
re

n
t 
to

 m
y
 c

h
ild

 i
s
 a

n
 

h
o
n
o
u
r 

a
n
d
 a

 p
le

a
s
u
re

 –
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 

m
y
 c

h
ild

 h
a
s
 t
u
rn

e
d
 m

y
 l
if
e
 u

p
s
id

e
 

d
o
w

n
 w

e
 w

o
u
ld

n
’t
  
h
a
v
e
 h

a
d
 i
t 
a
n
y
 

o
th

e
r 

w
a
y
.”

44



4
) 

G
P

s
 +

v
e

 a
n

d
 -

v
e

+
v
e
: 

In
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
o

lu
ti
o

n
s

+
v
e
: 

G
P

s
 s

e
e
 t

h
e
 f

a
m

ily
 a

s
 a

 w
h

o
le

+
v
e
: 

S
o
m

e
 G

P
s
 a

re
 t

a
k
in

g
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
h

e
a
lt
h
 c

h
e

c
k
s
 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly

-v
e

: 
G

P
s
 s

o
m

e
ti
m

e
s
 l
a
c
k
e
d
 k

n
o

w
le

d
g

e
 a

b
o

u
t 

s
p
e
c
ia

lis
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

-v
e

: 
P

re
s
c
ri
p
ti
o

n
 e

rr
o
rs

-v
e

; 
In

c
o
n
s
is

te
n
c
y
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 c

it
y

-v
e

; 
S

o
m

e
 G

P
s
 d

o
 n

o
t 

‘t
a
k
e
 c

a
re

’
o
f 

th
e
 w

h
o

le
 

fa
m

ily
  

�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “A

 l
o
o
k
, 
a
 c

ry
, 
a
 r

e
a
c
h
, 
th

e
 

s
ta

m
p
in

g
 o

f 
fe

e
t…

y
o
u
 b

e
c
o
m

e
 

a
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 d

e
te

c
ti
v
e
 

w
h
e
n
 y

o
u
 h

a
v
e
 a

 c
h
ild

 w
it
h
 

s
p
e
e
c
h
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
.”

45



4
) 

G
P

s
 –

s
u

g
g

e
s

ti
o

n
s

?
 C

o
n
s
is

te
n
c
y
 o

f 
h
o

w
 f

a
m

ili
e
s
 a

re
 t

re
a
te

d
 –

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 C
h

a
rt

e
r 

fo
r 

G
P

s

?
A

 r
o
u
te

 m
a
p
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

v
a

ila
b

le

?
 H

o
m

e
 v

is
it
s
 g

iv
e
n
 r

o
u
ti
n
e

ly
 t

o
 c

h
ild

re
n
 w

it
h

 

d
is

a
b

ili
ti
e
s

?
 T

ra
in

in
g
 f

o
r 

G
P

s
 a

n
d
 f

a
m

ili
e
s
 o

n
 p

o
w

e
r 

o
f 

a
tt

o
rn

e
y
/m

e
n
ta

l 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a

c
t 

?
 A

 h
o
lis

ti
c
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 n

e
e
d

e
d

 b
y
 a

ll 
G

P
s

?
E

lig
ib

ili
ty

 f
o
r 

re
fe

rr
a
ls

 n
e

e
d
s
 t

o
 b

e
 c

le
a
rl

y
 

e
x
p
la

in
e

d
 a

n
d
 a

ll 
c
o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 r

o
u
ti
n
e
ly

 c
o

p
ie

d
 

to
 p

a
re

n
ts

?
 A

m
a
z
e
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 P

a
C

C
 c

a
n
 r

e
p
re

s
e

n
t 

p
a
re

n
t 

c
a
re

r 

v
ie

w
s
 o

n
 a

 c
it
y
-w

id
e
 b

a
s
is

 (
u
n

lik
e
ly

 t
o
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 i
n
 

P
P

G
s
)

�
�
��
	�
�
�
��
�
	�
�
�
�
	�
��
�
��
 
� “A

 l
o
o
k
, 
a
 c

ry
, 
a
 r

e
a
c
h
, 
th

e
 

s
ta

m
p
in

g
 o

f 
fe

e
t…

y
o
u
 b

e
c
o
m

e
 

a
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 d

e
te

c
ti
v
e
 

w
h
e
n
 y

o
u
 h

a
v
e
 a

 c
h
ild

 w
it
h
 

s
p
e
e
c
h
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
.”

46



H
O

F
 a

n
d
 K

e
n
n

e
d
y
 r

e
p

o
rt

 v
e
ry

 s
im

ila
r 

th
in

g
s
 a

s
 P

a
C

C
:

C
h

a
lle

n
g

e
s

•H
e
a
lt
h
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f

o
r 

C
&

Y
P

 a
re

 p
o
o
r 

e
s
p
 C

&
Y

P
 

w
it
h
 d

is
a

b
ili

ty

•C
&

Y
P

 a
n
d
 f

a
m

ili
e
s
 s

tr
u
g

g
le

 t
o

 g
e
t 

v
o
ic

e
 h

e
a
rd

•T
ra

in
in

g
 i
n
 p

a
e

d
ia

tr
ic

s
 i
s
 p

o
o
r 

e
s
p
. 

fo
r 

G
P

s

•C
a
re

 i
s
 n

o
t 

jo
in

e
d
 u

p
 a

n
d
 f

o
c
u

s
e
s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 s

y
s
te

m
 

ra
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 i
n

d
iv

id
u
a

l

•C
&

Y
P

 l
o

w
 p

ri
o
ri

ty
 f

o
r 

G
P

s

•W
id

e
 v

a
ri
a
ti
o
n

s
 i
n
 c

a
re

�
!
"
�
	�
�
�
��
�
	#
�
�

�
�
�
�
	�
�
��
�

“S
o
m

e
ti
m

e
s
 w

e
 w

a
n
t 
to

 d
o
 

th
in

g
s
 t
h
a
t 
o
th

e
r 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 t
a
k
e
 

fo
r 

g
ra

n
te

d
. 
O

th
e
r 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 

to
 a

c
c
e
p
t 
th

a
t 
w

e
 a

re
 a

 l
it
tl
e
 b

it
 

d
if
fe

re
n
t.
”

47



R
e

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a

ti
o

n
s
:

•P
u
t 

C
&

Y
P

 a
n
d
 f

a
m

ili
e
s
 a

t 
h
e

a
rt

•S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 d

e
m

o
 h

o
w

 t
h
e

y
 l
is

te
n
 t

o
 C

&
Y

P
 a

n
d
 

fa
m

ili
e
s

•M
o
re

 p
a
e

d
ia

tr
ic

 t
ra

in
in

g
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

h
e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s

•B
e
tt

e
r 

in
te

g
ra

ti
o
n
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 h

o
s
p
it
a
l 
a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

n
u
rs

e
s
 (

e
s
p
 c

o
m

p
le

x
 n

e
e
d
s
 s

o
 c

a
n
 t

re
a
t 

a
t 

h
o
m

e
)

•T
ig

h
te

n
in

g
 d

ru
g
 p

ro
c
e
d

u
re

s
 i
n
c
l.
 d

ru
g
 e

rr
o
rs

•M
o
re

 i
n
te

g
ra

ti
o

n
 b

e
tw

. 
H

e
a
lt
h
, 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 

S
o

c
ia

l 

C
a
re

•L
o
c
a
l 
H

e
a
lt
h

w
a
tc

h
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

C
&

Y
P

 i
s
s
u
e
s

•S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 i
d
e

n
ti
fy

 C
Y

P
 w

it
h
 L

T
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
s
, 

d
is

a
b

ili
ti
e
s
, 

S
E

N
 e

tc

�
!
"
�
	�
�
�
��
�
	#
�
�

�
�
�
�
	�
�
��
�

“S
o
m

e
ti
m

e
s
 w

e
 w

a
n
t 
to

 d
o
 

th
in

g
s
 t
h
a
t 
o
th

e
r 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 t
a
k
e
 

fo
r 

g
ra

n
te

d
. 
O

th
e
r 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 

to
 a

c
c
e
p
t 
th

a
t 
w

e
 a

re
 a

 l
it
tl
e
 b

it
 

d
if
fe

re
n
t.
”

48



F
u

rt
h
e
r 

im
p
ro

v
e

 (
a
n

d
 f
u
n

d
) 

P
a

re
n
t 
C

a
re

r 
P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
:

•R
e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o

n
 a

t 
H

&
W

B
 b

o
a
rd

, 
C

C
G

, 
R

A
C

H
. 

•G
a
te

w
a

y
 f

u
n
d
in

g

•A
s
k
 f

o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
r 

a
n
d
 p

a
re

n
t 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

 r
e
s
o

u
rc

e
 f
o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e

s
 

•P
a
e
d
ia

tr
ic

 a
n
d
 p

a
re

n
t 

c
a
re

r 
tr

a
in

in
g
 f

o
r 

m
e
d
ic

a
l 
s
ta

ff

•P
a
e
d
ia

tr
ic

 D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 L

ia
is

o
n
 p

o
s
t

•S
u
s
s
e

x
-w

id
e
 E

p
ile

p
s
y
 N

u
rs

e

•A
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
ra

p
y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s

Im
p
ro

v
e

d
 c

o
m

m
u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
 &

 t
ra

n
s
p
a

re
n
c
y

•B
e
tw

e
e
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 t

o
 p

a
re

n
ts

H
W

O
S

C
 

•T
o

 c
h
a

m
p

io
n
 o

u
r 

re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
?

•T
o

 r
e
fe

r 
to

 H
&

W
B

 n
e

x
t 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
?

�
�
	�
�
�
	�
�
$

“S
o
m

e
ti
m

e
s
 w

e
 w

a
n
t 
to

 d
o
 

th
in

g
s
 t
h
a
t 
o
th

e
r 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 t
a
k
e
 

fo
r 

g
ra

n
te

d
. 
O

th
e
r 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 

to
 a

c
c
e
p
t 
th

a
t 
w

e
 a

re
 a

 l
it
tl
e
 b

it
 

d
if
fe

re
n
t.
”

49



50



HEALTH & WELLBEING 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 30 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Performance and Quality in Primary Care 

Date of Meeting: 11 September 2012 

Report of: Strategic Director, Resources 

Contact Officer: Name: Kath Vlcek Tel: 29-0450 

 Email: Kath.vlcek@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) received a report on GP 

Performance at its September 2011 committee meeting. There were a number of 
issues that remained outstanding, so it has returned to the Health and Wellbeing 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee (HWOSC) 

 
1.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group is due to take on responsibility for assessing 

GP performance and quality from April 2013. They will be doing so using a 
‘scorecard’ system.  

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That Members note and comment on the contents of this report and its 

appendices.  
 
2.2 That Members agree to take up the offer of a seminar on performance and 

quality in Primary Care hosted by the CCG. 
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 

EVENTS: 
 
3.1 The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) heard about GP 

Performance at their September 2011 committee meeting. There were a number 
of issues that remained outstanding so it has returned to the Health and 
Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny Committee (HWOSC), which has superseded the 
HOSC.  

 
3.2 The minutes of the September 2011 HOSC say: 
 
35.1     This item was introduced by Ms Elizabeth Tinley, Service Lead, Brighton & Hove 
City Primary Care Contracts and Commissioning Directorate, Sussex Commissioning 
Support Unit. 

  

51



35.2     Members agreed that they were disappointed that this report did not include 
information on the performance of individual GP practices in the city and asked for a 
paper to be circulated including this material. 

  

35.3     Members also asked for some work to be done mapping the relative 
performance of city GP practices against areas of deprivation across the city – i.e. to 
ascertain whether GP practice performance was significantly correlated with derivation 
etc – and requested that this be circulated alongside information on comparative 
performance. 

  

35.4     In response to a question from Cllr Robins on the use of locums by individual 
GP practices, members were told that PCTs had no power to influence the use of 
locums by GP practices – the practice rather than named GPs is contracted to provide 
services. However, Ms Tinley agreed to find out whether information on locums was 
nonetheless collated, and, if so, whether there was any correlation between locum use 
and performance. 

  

35.5     In answer to a question from Mr Hazelgrove on Patient Groups, members were 
informed that patients could choose to establish their own groups, although this could 
cause problems as the groups had to be fully representative of the practice population 
rather than a self-selecting sample. 

  

35.6     The Chair thanked Ms Tinley for her contribution. 

  

35.7     That the committee should receive additional information on: 

  

            (a) comparative performance of each city GP practice 
            (b) mapping of GP performance against city demographics 

(c) use of locums and its correlation (if any) with GP practice performance. 
 
3.3  The Clinical Commissioning Group is due to take on responsibility for assessing 

GP performance and quality from April 2013. They will be doing so using a 
‘scorecard’ system.  

 
3.4 Information on the scorecards is available on 

http://www.brightonandhove.nhs.uk/localservices/gp/NHSBrightonandHove-
GPbalancedscorecard.asp 

 

3.5 The CCG has offered to host a seminar for HWOSC members on performance 
and quality in Primary Care to provide further time for discussion and detailed 
questions on the data and its implications,  

 
 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 None to this report for information. 
4.2  
 
5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 
5.1 None to this report for information. 
 

52



 Legal Implications:  
 
5.2 None to this report for information.  
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
 
5.3 None to this report for information but the appendices from the CCG are 

focussed on GP performance and on inequalities.  
 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
5.4 None to this report for information.  
 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
5.5 None to this c report for information.  
 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
5.6 None to this report for information but the appendices from the CCG are 

focussed on GP performance and on any risk that may ensue. 
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
5.7 None to this report for information but the appendices from the CCG are 

focussed on GP performance and consequently on public health. 
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
5.8 None to this report for information.  
 
6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 
6.1 None to this report for information. 
 
 
7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
7.1 The HOSC had queries that remained outstanding so it was referred on to 

HWOSC for information. 
 
7.2 Members who were on HOSC may have already attended a workshop on GP 

performance, which is a significant issue, so it was felt appropriate to offer the 
same opportunity to newer members. 

 
 

53



SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 

1. GP Performance and Quality Scorecard Presentation handout  
 
2. Example of a scorecard 

 
3. Example of GP practice profile 

 
4. GP taxonomies 

 
5. GP Scorecard newsletter 
 

 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
None. 
 
 
Background Documents 
 
 None. 
 
 

54



Improving Quality in General Practice
Brighton and Hove 

The GP Scorecard

Contents

• Improving Quality of Primary Care - part of CCG 
Business

• Changes to NHS Commissioning 2013 - who does what 
in the new world

• Brighton and Hove – GP Scorecard Process

• Key Findings – Data Analysis & Lessons Learnt

• Next Steps 

Improving Quality of Primary Care  -
part of CCG business?

• CCG  responsibility to improve health care - secure the 
best outcomes within the resources available

� UK has a strong primary care based system with relatively 
high levels of patient satisfaction.

� International evidence suggests the strength of a primary 
care is linked to overall population health. 

� Primary care accounts for 9 out of 10 patient contacts, but 
hospital care and specialist services is where most NHS 
expenditure is focussed. 

55



Improving Quality of Primary Care  - part 
of CCG business

� Most of CCG’s service redesign focus:
– shifting to primary care based models of care
– avoiding the need to go to hospital 

• Primary care – multiple small providers
– Wide variation in effectiveness & delivery of primary 

care at an individual practice level
– GP practices now plays an increasingly important role 

in co-ordinating the provision of patient care.

Changes to NHS Commissioning  -
April 2013

� The newly reformed NHS requires GPs to play a key 
role as commissioners, as well care providers.

� The National Commissioning Board will be 
responsible for commissioning primary care and 
managing each practice contract, but

� Under the Health Act CCG’s have a duty to “assist and 
support the National Commissioning Board to 
improve the quality of primary care:
� Promoting quality improvement 

� Reviewing and benchmarking practice performance 

� Enabling peer review and challenge

GP Scorecard Process

� Nationally one of the most used approaches to driving 
forward quality improvement in general practice  -
collection and analysis of a range of clinical, quality and 
performance data to form GP scorecards. 

� Brighton and Hove introduced a Quality and 
Performance Framework for Primary Care in 2009/10; 

� Key element  - GP Scorecard to driving quality 
improvement forwards

� Piloted with 25% of practices. 

56



� In 2010/11  - learning from the pilot informed the full roll-out across 
the City: 

� Practice Profiles were produced to contextualise the data.
� Individual practice visits took place to agree Practice 

Development Plans.

� Public facing scorecards were included on the PCT website.

• In 2011/12 a CCG steering group  - Public Health, Clinical Quality, 
Primary Care Commissioning and Business Intelligence  - set up 
to ensure systems developed were in-line with the emerging CCG 
environment. 

• The group concluded the process should be adapted for 2011/12, 
in particular to provide greater focus on peer review and support. 

GP Scorecard Process

• February and March 2012   - all Practices in Brighton & Hove 
(GPs, Practice Managers and Practice Nurses) were invited to 
attend scorecard workshops made up of small groups of 
practices.

• Individual Practice Scorecards, Practice Profiles and Patient 
Surveys where provided in advance of the workshops to aid 
planning and discussion.

• The aim was to provide a non-judgemental, supportive 
environment to share good practice and to consider individual 
practice development needs. 

Peer Review Workshops

GP Scorecard
• The data is broken down into key areas: 

– Contractual Requirements and Premises 
– Priority Standards and Services 
– Access

– Patient Experience 
– Quality & Outcomes Framework  (QOF)
– Public Health Information
– Prescribing 

� 59 different indicators are included 

� Practices are rated A, B or C for each area & given an 
overall rating. 

57



The GP Scorecard

Overall Results

• 17 Practices  Scored A

• 25 Practices Scored B

• 5 Practices Scored C 

• Total 47 practices

Overall satisfaction with care

�

� 19 practices scored lower than national average: 11 East, 3 West, 5 Central

National

PCT 

Locality

58



QOF Scores 
�14 practices scored lower than national average: 6 East, 4 West, 4 Central 

National

PCT

� Practices QOF scores vary between 462 & 1000 points

Satisfaction with Opening Hours 

� 14 practices scored lower than national average: 6 East, 4 West, 4 Central

National

PCT

Ability to See Own GP  

� 16 practices scored lower than national average: 6 East, 4 West, 6 Central

National

PCT

59



Analysis

• No particular pattern in terms of Locality – although more 
West practices were higher scoring

• No particular pattern in terms of deprivation – although 
the lowest 2 scoring practices had the highest level of 
deprivation. 

• The lowest 5 scoring practices were all small practices
• No identifiable patterns in terms of scores and 

Taxonomy of General Practice

Score by Locality

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

���������	

� Each practices has an overall percentage score: East, West, Central

Score By Index of Deprivation

(High IMD = higher deprivation)

���������	�
���	���
������

��

���

���

���

���

���

���

	��


��

���

����

�

�

�
��

��

�
�

�

��

�
�

�

�
�

�

��

�
�

�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�


�
�

�

�

��
�

�
 �

�!
�

�
��

"
�

�
�

#
�

�
�

$
�

�
�

%
��

!�
&

�'

�
�

!(
��


�
�

�



)
�

�
�

�
�

��
!�

��

�
�

�

�

�
��

*
�

+
�

,
�

$

�
��

�

�

�
��

�
��

�
!�

�
�-

�
�

*
�

+
�

��
�

��

*
�

+
�

�

.
�

�/
�

�
�

�

,
�

�

�

��
�

!�
�

�
�

��
�

�

%
�0

!�
�

��

�

�
�




�

�

�
�


�
��

1
�

!+
�

��
!


'

�
�

�

(

�
�!

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

.
�

�
�

!�
&

�
�

�

)
��

�
�

$
�

'

%
+

�
�

�
�

�
�

��

"
!�

&
�

$
�

'

)
�!

&
�


�
�

"
�

&
�

�
�

'

��
�

&
�!

�
&

�

�
�

+
!�

!�
�

�
�

�
�

+
!�

��

��
$

�
��

"
�

�
�

.
!�

�
��

�
��

�
�

+
�

�
�2

!�
��

.
!�

��
$

3
�


�
�

��
��

�
�

)
��

�
�$

!�
�

*
�

+
�

)
�

�$
�

��

*
�

�
&

��

�

�

)
�

�

�

�
�

��
�

'
��




.
�

!

�

�
�

$
�

�

��

��

��

��

��

��

)����������������

4�2

60



Score by Practice Size 

< 5,000, > 5,000 and 9,999 > 10,000

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Practices

Score by Public Health Taxonomy of Practice 

Triangle, Pentagon, Oval, Octagon, Rectangle, Kite

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Practices

2011/12 GP Scorecard Workshops

� Total of 9 workshops - 114 practice staff attended. 

� Practices shared challenges as part of workshop

���������	
�����
���




�

�




�

�


��

��

�


��

�


����������

�
��
�
��
	�
�	
�
��
��
��
��

������

���������	�������������

���������

� �������	!��������

��"����	���������

����	�����

���"������

#�����	$�����

%��

�����������

$�����������

�	&	�	����������	!���

�
��

�
�
�	
��
	�
��
��
��
��
	

����������	

61



GP Scorecard Workshops

� Practices were required to submit  Action Plans to address the practices 
challenges; common themes are shown below: 


'

('

�
'

�('

�
'

�('

�������

�
��
�
�
��
�
��
	�
�	
�
��
�
��
�
��

������

���������	)�������������	

���������

� �������	*	������	*	!��������

����	�����

%��	

���"����	���������	

���"������

�	&	�	����������	!���

�����������	+��,�-

�������	� ��������

�$.	$���������/�

GP Scorecard Newsletter

�June 2012  - newsletter was sent 
to practices which summarised the 

key findings:

� ‘Top Tips’ from the workshops.

� The contact details of practices 
willing to offer additional peer support.

� The evaluation summary. 

� Responses to organisational issues.

� The next steps.

Summary

• From 2010/11 to 2011/12, 13 practices moved up at least one 

band, 31 stayed in the same band and 3 moved down.

• The 2011/12 feedback was positive with all 47 practices 
commenting about the benefit of peer review and support. 

• The latest - Practice Profiles and Public Scorecards will be added 

to the CCG website in September

• CCG   - as apart of authorisation process – establishing a 

dedicated primary care team  - GP clinical lead will be recruited. 

• Further plans to improve quality will be developed in the Autumn

– once new team established. 

62



Further Information

• New National Guidance – Securing Excellence in 
Primary Care 

– Management & safe transfer of functions
– Main components of the new primary care 

commissioning system  - who will do what. 

• http://www.commissioningboard.nhs.uk/files/2012/06/e
x-comm-pc.pdf

• B&H Scorecards – Link to CCG Web-site

• http://www.brightonandhove.nhs.uk/localservices/gp/N
HSBrightonandHove-GPbalancedscorecard.asp

63



64



 

 

 

65



66



�
�

�

�

������������	�
����
��������

�
�

����������

�����
��������

�

�

����������

�

���
���	����������

������	�
��	
�����
����

���	�
��������������

��	�������
�
������

 �����	�� �!!�

��������

 �	!����
"� �����	���

 �!!�

������������"�

���!	��� 	�����	!"�����

 �!!�

���������������

#���"����!	��� 	����

$�	�������	!�	�
��������

%�	���&�

�

����	
�	����
���	������

����'���(�
�����	�
�

	�
�������������
����

���
���
������	
��������

��	����	
���

��������

��
�������
�
������	�
��

��	������	�������	��

��!�	��
��&��

�

���
���	���������	
�	�

��	��������������!	��

���
�
��

���
)��	�����

��	����
���
�	����	������

!������
"�������	�����
�

����������������������

���
!	��������
�������*�

	����	�������������

���������
�	�
�������*�

���	�

�	�����'�(�

��	������+������!����

��	�&���

�

����	�!���������

���*
���
��	
�����

�����
��	����,

-�
�!���	�"�
����������

�������!��������

��	����
�	�����������
�

��	������	�
�����

���
�
�����	�����
.��


������!�������

&��/����

������	�����
�����

0��������1�%�������*��

�	���	�
�
��!����
��

	��������	�
�����

����'�(&����
��������


�!!	��
�
������

��	�����
���	��	��
����
�

��	�.
������

�	�
�
�!��

���������!!������!�
�

	�
����
���	�����
���	��

�!����
&�

�

���������	���	
���
�

��
���
���������
����

%��������
������2�

34����$�5��	������
�!����

��.���6�!���!�����	�����
"�
��	���	���	�����
���!	�������
����$�5�	�����
�
��!�	�
��
��!��
��
����7��
�
	���	�8�
�
�

�����

%������!	6�!�
�������
2�

39��������
����	�����
)�
��
���������������	��
�
��!��
�
���
������
������!��
��
��	�
�
���!��
8�
�
�

��
������������
���
����

%�����������	
�����	*�2�

39�����	������!���
�	����
��
���
����	�
�
���������*������!�
8�
�
�

������


���
����

%�����������	
�����	*�2�

35��:�������!����������	*�������
	����!�������	�����	!�	�����
�	�����
�	���	����������
�3�
�
�

����

����
����
�����

%�����������	
�����	*�2�

3/
*������;���������
�����
���
��������������������
�	������
	�����+�<&��	
��

�������	����	
*�
�!������
����	�������3�
�

�

����

%�������!��������2�

3=��*�	������
����������������,�
���*	����	�
��������
	���
/������!���
"���������*����������
��
��
�������������������	�����&�
>!��	��������������	�
����
�
��"�
������"��!	���	�
���6��!�

	����
���*����	�
�	��	�
����!	������
�����	�����	����
8�

 ��
�

�������������

�

�

?

@

A

��

��

�?

�@

�A

��

 �	������


�
�!

�
��
��
��
��
	�
��
�
�


/���



 ���
���
��!!���
	����


 ��	!�
�	

>6��������;��������

 ����	��
��������

 	�����	�


����	�����

B���	��%�	���

5��

���
�������

%�����������

/�1�>�/����
	����;	��

�

����������������*
����!������
���	�����
������	
*�
�����
���������

��	������
�������
�	�
�����	��������	������
&������	����	���������
���
��

������	������
���	�����
��
�������
�	�
�������!���������	�����
��

�6��������������!&��

��	������ �	������
��

67



�
�

�

�

�������������	�
����
��������

�

�

!�������

��������������


������
���"�����
�
�������#�
�

���
�"�����������	���
�!��������	�������

����&�������	�����
�������	�����������

������������
	����������������������C�
�

�

�����
#�����
���������

�6�%�	���� �������

>!	��C����

	�&����!	�D��
&����

���������C�E���F(G��?H��@�
�

�

��
������������
���
����
4	�!
�������������

>!	��C�
�
	�&�	����
D��
&����

���������C�E���F(G�I?IH�@�
�

�

��
���
���������
����
��&������.
�B�
��	�� �������

>!	��C���	����&
��*
D��
&����

���������CE���F(G�@�@��@�
�

�

������


���
�����
 ����	��%�������������

>!	��C�	!	�
	&-���
��D��
&����

���������C�E���F(G�F??H�F�
�

�

����

����
����
����
���
�����	�*����������

>!	��C������	&������
D��
&����

���������C�E���F(G�I?�FH��
�

�

 �������
���
%����B�
��	�� �������

>!	��C��	��

	&�������D��
&����

���������C�E���F(G�?�(@@@�
�

�

$��%��
�%��
��� ���
�
&
����
�	�*� ��
�����%�	���� �������

>!	��C��	���C�������D��
&����

���������C�E���F(G�I�(@((�
�

�

 ��
���������
��
���
B����9	*�B�
��	�� ������

>!	��C����*&-���
D��
&����

���������C�E���F(G�?�@�����
�

�

!'��'���������
����
/����������������������

>!	��C����	��	�	!D��
&����

���������C�E���F(G�@�I?HF��

����
�������
����������	��H����*
���
���������
"�(��

�������	������	������������?���	�������

��
�	����	������	����&�
�

��������	��	��������
�	�*��	
��6���!�����

����
������������!	����	������	��
��

����!!����������������������
�����

��!��������������������	�����
�����

��
�
��

��

��
�	�
�
�	����

���
�	
&��
�

��5����	����������F���	��	������

��:��
����
�������
���
�����	���	����

���	
��������J���
.����J�6�������.�������

������������	������	��
��	���������	����

���	���������������

�J	���	��.�����

��J����.&�

�
�����

�

����������

�

�

����������

�

��

��

���

���

���

���

���		
��

�

���




���	������������
�� ���


��	������

���
�� �����
���� ���

�
����	�
��

����

���
��	��


��
��	
��


�
�� �	� 
�	� �

!	�

��

�� �"���

 ��
�� 
�� ���

��#����� � 
�����
���� 


�

/������������*
����!������
���	�����
������	
*�
����������	�
��


��!�����	������	��������	�
�������	

��

�
�������	�����
���	������
&��

�����	����	���������
���
������������	��������	�����
���	�������
�
�	��

	�������&�&�J	���

.����������	������	��������	�&�

��	������/��������	�
��

�4��*
����>�	��	������

/�����
�

��
��
��
��
��
��
��
	�
��
��
��
�	
��
��
�

�

68



�

�

�

�

�

������������	�
����
��������

�
�

����������

�

�

����������

�

�

��

��

(�

?�

I�

@�

�������	��������

$&� $&� $&( $&? $&I $&@ $&F

>�	��	�����$��
�����

>�	��	�������!!	���4�
��=��	����

������ ���������	��	�����:��
����
�������
���������������	
����
�����������*
���������

C�

����
�

�����$&��4����!�
"������
������
�	�
�
�����
��������

�����$&���������%�	�������
���	���������
��������
�����	�
�����!�������	�����������!�
��

�����$&(�K���!�

	��
����!�����
�����	�

�	�
���	�������������
�

�����$&?����
�������	�
�
�
��

������	������
�������
��

�����$&I����
�������	�
�
�
��

������	��������	������
�

�����$&@�/�����������
��
�������
����!�
�
��

�����

�����$&F���6��
���
�,���	������/��������	�
�

�

��

��

(�

?�

I�

@�

�������	��������

$&� $&� $&( $&? $&I $&@ $&F

>�	��	�����$��
�����

>�	�	��������!!	��� ����	��=���	�����

�

�

���������
���������"������(�
��
�"��

�������
���������"���������(�
��
�"��

�

�

�

�

>6��������

�

����
�

�

�/���	����

�

�������

3���	�����
�	����

�6��������
�	�
��

��	����	���

��������
)������

�
�����
�

���8�

3���	��������
�

������	��������

�
�������
�	���


�����	�
��

��!�	����)�����
��

���������8�

69



��

������/���������*
���
�	�

����������������������
�������

��)���!�

	����	!����	!���!�	����	!����	!���!��

�

�

�

������������	�
����
��������

�

L�

�������������������	�
��
�������������
	��
����������
	�	�	�
���������������	��
������	�����
�	��������
������

������&���	�����
������������	��������*
���������
�����������������������
�������
��
����!�
�����&�
���
��M����0�
���

���������!	�	������� �����	�� �	!����������������������	��������
���������!�����������*������

�������	��������	���
�������	�
�������
�������������
�
&�

�

����������

�

�

����������

�

��

��

(�

?�

I�

@�

�������	���������

$&� $&� $&( $&? $&I $&@ $&F

>�	��	�����$��
�����

>�	��	�������!!	���>	
��=��	�����

+�������������*
���
�	���!��������

��
�������	�
�
������	�����
�	�
�
�������������������������	
������
��������

	

��

����
�C��

���
'�������
�
�
��C�/���!���������	�����
��	�
�
��������
�	�����	���

����	���
�������
�%�	����

N�
��������	!&�/����*
��������

����
�������	�������%�	����N�
�������	
������
�
������������,

��
���=���������������&�
�

(�
���*����
�
�����������
�
��C�=��
�����������
�	����
��������������	���
�	�
���
����������

���!	����	����
��	�����	�
���	������������	�
�
)����
���������
��	��������������
������������

 �����	��>
��	�����	�
���	������ �!!�����&�
�

 ���������������
�

���
��C���	������
�	���	������	��
�����������������	
�
���!��������

�6����	����
������������!��	�
��������	������	����
��6����	�������
�	�
����*
���
�����
����

�!�����
&�/���	�������	���
	�������
�������	�	��	������������ �����
�����6��	���&�
�

����������������
�������

�+�$�����	���!���������	�����
��	�
�
��������
�	���������:�	�����

������
�
������)����
��	
��������
���������� �#���������!������	���
�
��

���
&�

�

�������
���������"������(�
��
�"��

��������������	�������

��
��

��6������
��

3��	�������

B	�	���
��������

:������
��	��
�
��

���
����*�����

������!
�	���7��
���:����
8��

70



HEALTH & WELLBEING 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 31 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 
 

Subject: Mental Health Beds Update (September 2012) 

Date of Meeting: 11 September 2012 

Report of: Strategic Director, Resources 

Contact Officer: Name: Kath Vlcek Tel: 29-0450 

 Email: Kath.vlcek@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on monitoring of the temporary reduction of in-

patient mental health beds at Mill View hospital. 
 
1.2 Appendix 1 to this report contains information, supplied by Brighton & Hove 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), relating to the ongoing work of the 
independent Clinical Taskforce established to monitor the impact of the 
temporary bed reductions. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That the Health & Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny Committee considers and 

comments on this report and its appendix. 
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 

EVENTS: 
 
3.1 Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SPFT), acting in agreement with 

Brighton & Hove Clinical Commissioning Group, plans to reduce its acute mental 
health bed capacity in Brighton & Hove by around 18 beds; arguing that more 
effective community mental health services, coupled with more efficient 
discharge planning, will mean that it can provide a better quality service to local 
people with fewer acute beds. 

 
3.2 Aspects of this plan have been presented both to the Brighton & Hove Health 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) and to the Health and Wellbeing 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee (HWOSC) on several occasions.  

71



 
 
3.3 The HOSC was updated on the work of the Clinical Taskforce at its 21 March 

and 09 May 2012 meetings, the HWOSC received updates on 12 June and 24 
July 2012. On all occasions members were informed that the Taskforce’s targets 
had not been attained. At the July meeting, the HWOSC was informed that the 
clinical decision was , despite this consistent failure to hit targets, to maintain the 
bed closures and to further invest in community services. 

 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 None has been undertaken in compiling this update. 
 
 
5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 
 Financial Implications: 
 
5.1 None to this update – members are not being asked to make any decision which 

might have financial implications. 
 
  
Legal Implications: 
 
5.2 None to this update 
 
  
Equalities Implications: 
 
5.3 None to this update 
 
Sustainability Implications: 
 
5.4 None to this update 
 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
5.5 None to this update 
 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
5.6 None to this update 
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
5.7 None to this update 
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
5.8 None to this update 
 
 
 

72



6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 
6.1 At some point, should performance continue to be below target, the HWOSC 

may wish to reconsider its approval of the temporary bed closure at Mill View 
hospital – i.e. should it become evident that there is no realistic prospect in the 
short term of SPFT managing with fewer local beds without impacting on the 
level of care provided to local people. 

 
 
7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 This is an ongoing issue which the Council’s statutory health scrutiny committee 

has been monitoring for some time. As the HWOSC is assuming statutory health 
scrutiny responsibilities, it makes sense for it to continue its predecessor’s 
activities in this important area. 

 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 

1. Mental Health Acute Beds - September Update from the CCG. 
 

2. Mental Health Acute Beds - June Update from the CCG 
 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
None 
 
Background Documents 
 
None 
 
 

73



74



Appendix 1 

1 

Mental Health Acute Beds 
 

HWOSC Update  - September 2012  
 
 
 

1. Purpose of the Paper   
The purpose of this paper is to update the HWOSC regarding proposals 
to invest further in community mental health service to support the whole 
system programme of work to reduce the number of acute mental health 
beds in Brighton and Hove.  
 
 

2. Background  
Previous papers have described the rationale for the proposals and the 
agreed local approach to ensure the arrangements are implemented 
safely. The HOSC at it’s meeting In January 2012 gave support to 
proceed with a temporary phased reduction in bed numbers with the 
agreement that a Clinical Review Group would oversee the process and 
provide updates to the HOSC (which has now been superseded by the 
HWOSC). The last detailed update paper was provided in June 2012 and 
should be used as a reference document to this paper. The paper is 
detailed in Appendix A.  
 
 

3. Progress 
 

3.1  The purpose of the Clinical Review group is to assess the point at which 
there have been sufficient system changes to enable 19 beds in Brighton 
and Hove to close on a permanent basis.  The group has met a total of 
six times and has agreed a set of metrics to measure the system 
readiness to function safely and effectively with fewer beds. The metrics 
were detailed in Appendix A of the June 2012 paper.  
 

3.2 Since the last written report provided to the HWOSC in June 2012 the 
Clinical Review Group has met twice further.  
 

4. Decision to Invest Further in Community Mental Health Services 
4.1 At its meeting on 17 July the Clinical Review Group undertook a detailed 

option appraisal to assess whether the beds should re-open or whether 
further investment in community services was necessary to help support 
people’s care in out of a hospital settings.  
 

4.2 On balance the clinicians recommended that the preferred option was to 
invest further in community services and not to re-open the beds at this 
stage. The key elements of the debate that informed the decision are as 
follows:  

• National best practice is that people should always be cared for in 
the least restrictive setting and the minimum disruption to their 
lives. 

75



Appendix 1 

2 

• Patient preference in the main is for care in the community rather 
than in hospital settings.  

• Clinicians  felt that there are still a number of patients admitted to 
Millview Hospital who would be better cared for in the community if 
additional resources were available 

• There is scope to make further improvements in community 
services to provide more care outside hospital as an alternative to 
inpatient admission  

 
4.3 The group agreed that specific additional investment proposals for 

community services would be developed and a decision made on 
preferred investment proposals at the next meeting on 17 August.  
 

4.4 The investment proposals are in addition to the investment plans already 
agreed including the intensive day care facility for people with personality 
disorder development and increased supported accommodation options. 
Plans for both of these developments are in place to deliver service 
changes by the summer of 2013.  
 

4.5 The investment proposals are also in addition to new investment the 
Clinical Commissioning Group have made in relation to the Audacious 
Goal programme to improving urgent care services and reduce reliance 
on emergency services at the Royal Sussex County Hospital (A&E and 
unplanned hospital admission services). The service changes agreed as 
part of this Audacious Goal programme of work are to enhance the 
Brighton Urgent Response Service (BURS) by developing a 24/7 urgent 
response that patients/carers/ambulance will be able to access directly. 
The service will include a 24/7 phone line and 7 day a week rapid access 
clinics. This value of this investment is an additional 391k with the 
enhanced BURS service due to commence by 1 December 2012 at the 
latest.  
 

 
5. Specific Investment Proposals 
5.1 At its meeting on 17 August the Clinical Review Group considered 

proposals for additional investment in community services.  
 

5.2 Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team.  
The group agreed the priority area for investment was an investment of 
429k in additional staffing (nursing, medical and support workers) in the 
Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team (CRHT).  This represents a 
28% increase in resource over and above the existing investment of 
1,531k.  
 

5.3  The CRHT is a team for adults with severe mental illness (e.g. 
schizophrenia, manic depressive disorders, severe depressive disorders) 
with an acute psychiatric crisis. It provides a seven day a week crisis 
support and home treatment as an alternative to hospital admissions for a 
period of up to six weeks. The specific investment areas agreed are:  

• Additional night time senior nursing cover  

76



Appendix 1 

3 

• Additional nursing resource to help support early discharge 
from hospital  

• Additional weekend medical cover.  
 

5.3 The decision was informed by a number of factors:  

• There is a wealth of national research & evidence that 
demonstrates that a responsive CRHT can significantly reduce bed 
use, particularly in terms of supporting patients in the community to 
help admission avoidance1  

• Latest bench-marking undertaken against nationally recommended 
staffing and caseload indicators has identified Brighton and Hove 
having lower staffing levels than indicated for our population need.   

• National best practice is that people experiencing severe mental 
health difficulties should be treated in the least restrictive 
environment with the minimum disruption to their lives. This is 
based on research that has shown that most service users and 
carers prefer community based treatment and that clinical and 
social outcomes are at last as good as those achieved in hospital.2 

• Length of stay in hospital should be the minimum time required to 
address the reason for admission, and there is potential to expand 
the current early discharge arrangements to 7 days a week.  

 
5.4 In summary the investment decision was made on the basis that the 

current CRHT resource is less than indicated for the Brighton and Hove 
population and on the basis of the available evidence that CRHT’s have 
positive outcomes in terms of patient satisfaction and clinical care and 
that they can support a reduction acute mental health bed usage.  

 
5.5 The additional investment was made in context of some further changes 

to the working practice of the CRHT to maximise the productivity and 
efficiency, for example use of geographical caseload zoning to minimise 
staff travel and clinical handover time.   
  

5.6 Other Investment Proposals  
In addition to the approval to invest further in the CRHT, the Clinical 
Review Group agreed that further changes to the system should be 
considered including whether any additional investment in terms of the 
community mental health teams was necessary. Effective and timely 
discharge from the CRHT to the community mental health teams (the 
Assessment and Treatment Service (ATS) is essential to ensure whole 
system working. The Group agreed to consider a specific proposal in 
terms of additional investment in the ATS and the impact this would have 
on bed usage at its next meeting on 18 September.  

 
 
 

                                                           
1
 (Glover et al, (2006) Crisis Resolution/Home Treatment Teams and Psychiatric 
Admissions in England. 
2
 Department of Health, (2001) The Mental Health Policy Implementation Guide) 
 

77



Appendix 1 

4 

6. Update on Performance  
6.1 The performance metrics were reviewed by the Clinical Review Group at 

the meetings on 17 July and 17 August. Key headlines are as follows.  
 
6.2 Access to Acute Mental Health Beds within the City. The latest data 

for Quarter 1 2012-13 (April to June 2012) shows that 92% of people 
have been able to access a bed within the City.  This is slightly below the 
target of 95%.  

 
 

 

  

 

 
 
6.3 There have been no additional complaints or Serious Untoward Incidents 

in relation to the beds.  
 

6.4 The hospital re-admission audit described in the June HWOSC report is 
in progress and the results will be reviewed at the September meeting  
  

6.5 Plans are in place for additional patient and staff satisfaction audits, in 
relation to the additional .  
 

 
7. Summary  
7.1 The Clinical Review Group has agreed to additional investment in the 

Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team to provide more support as an 
alternative to hospital admission. It will take approximately 10 weeks to 
recruit additional staff to the Team and the planned changes will take 
effect from November 2012. The Clinical Review Group anticipate being 
able to evaluate the changes at the end of January 2013.  
 

7.1 This is alongside other changes planned including:  
 

• Enhanced 24/7 Brighton Urgent Response Service 

• New Intensive Day Facility for people with Personality Disorder 

• Increased Supported Accommodation Options  
 

2010/11  2011/12 2012
/13  

78



Appendix 1 

5 

7.2 The Clinical Review group has also agreed that the staffing of the 
Churchill Ward (Nevill Hospital) should be relocated to staff the Meridian 
Ward at the Millview Hospital. This move is planned to take place in 
October 2012 and will enable the benefits of the newly refurbished ward 
to be experienced by patients and the benefits around team working and 
consolidation of clinical expertise to be realised. The spare capacity in 
terms of beds will be maintained at Churchill ward and reviewed by the 
Clinical Review Group until any final decision to close beds. The option of 
re-opening beds will therefore be maintained until this point.  
 

7.3 A further progress will be provided to the HWOSC next meeting including 
any additional investment agreed by the Clinical Review Group at its 
meeting on 18 September.  
 
 

 

 
 

79



80



1 

Mental Health Acute Beds 
 

HOSC Update  - June 2012  
 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF THE PAPER   
The purpose of this paper is to update the HOSC regarding the proposals to 
reduce the number of acute mental health beds in Brighton and Hove.  
 
 

2. BACKGROUND 
Previous papers have described the rationale for the proposals and the 
agreed local approach to ensure the arrangements are implemented safely. 
The HOSC has given its support to proceed with a temporary phased 
reduction in bed numbers with the agreement that a Clinical Review Group 
will oversee the process and provide updates to the HOSC. 
 
 

3. PROGRESS 
3.1  The Clinical Review group have held four meetings to date. The purpose of 

the group is to assess the point at which there have been sufficient system 
changes to enable 19 beds in Brighton and Hove to close on a permanent 
basis.   
 

3.2 The Clinical Review Group has agreed a range of clinical metrics that will be 
monitored and measured to assess whether the system is ready for the beds 
to close. The metrics are detailed in Appendix A. An update on progress 
against key metrics are as follows:  

 
 
3.3 Access to Beds in Brighton and Hove.  

One of the key metrics is that 95% of residents are able to access a bed 
within the City.  This equates to no more than 3 Brighton and Hove residents 
being admitted out of area at any one time (excluding female psychiatric 
intensive care where there is no local facility). The data contained in figure 1 
plots the trend from Q3 2010 (September to December 2010) until the most 
recent quarter (January to March 2011). It shows that during the most recent 
quarter that this target has not yet been achieved – the proportion of bed 
occupancy within Brighton and Hove is at 93%. There is also softer 
intelligence that some residents who agree to an informal admission, chose 
not to enter hospital treatment, if the available bed is not within Brighton and 
Hove. A potential negative impact is that a patient’s condition could 
deteriorate whilst they are waiting for a local bed to become available and it 
may take longer for them to recover once they are admitted. 
 
 
 
 

81



2 

Figure 1:  Proportion of Occupied Bed Days that are located within 
Brighton and Hove 

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Performance

Target

 
Note 
Data excluded female psychiatric intensive care unit – as there is no local facility.  

 
More detailed data for the period since January 2012 (figure 2 below shows 
that the target of no more than 3 Brighton and Hove residents has only been 
achieved  for 5 out of the 19 weeks (26% of the time). However it needs to be 
recognised that within the data for admissions outside Brighton and Hove 
included are  small numbers of people where this is appropriate e.g. (a patient 
still registered with a Brighton and Hove GP but living in another part of 
Sussex, or because they are member of Millview Hospital staff, or because of 
patient choice).  
 
 
Figure 2: Number of B&H Residents Admitted Out of Area 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

03
.0
1
.1
2

09
.0
1
.1
2

06
.0
2
.1
1

20
.0
2
.1
2

05
.0
3
.1
2

26
.0
3
.1
2

09
.0
3
.1
2

23
.0
4
.1
2

07
.0
5
.1
2

21
.0
5
.1
2

N
o
. 
o
f 
c
li
e
n
ts

B&H Clients

Outside

Area

Target

 
 
 

3.4 Length of Stay  
Median Length of stay has fluctuated, with increases shown in older people 
services for the last two quarters of 2011-12. The data is detailed below in 
Figure 3.  
 
 
 
 

82



3 

Figure 3: Median Length of Stay  

Median Length of Stay 

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

WAHMS OPMH - functional OPMH - organic

Service 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
D
a
y
s

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

 
Notes 
WAHMS – Working Aged Mental Health Service 
OPMH – Older People Mental Health Service 

 
 

3.5 Delayed Transfer of Care  
The target is for delayed transfers of care to be no more than 5%. For working 
aged service the figure has stayed at 5% or below during 2011-12, but for 
older people the target has not been achieved for quarters 3 and 4 of 2011-
12. Lack of suitable supported accommodation remains one of the key 
reasons for delayed transfer of care.  
 
Figure 4 – Delayed Transfer of Care – Working Age Services 
 

 

83



4 

 
 
Figure 5 – Delayed Transfer of Care – Older People Services  

 
 

 
 
3.6 Re-admission Rates 

Re-admission rates appear to have increased in 2011-12 compared with the 
previous year for working age services (figure 6).The pattern appears to be 
more variable in older people services (figure 7). Sussex Partnership 
Foundation Trust (SPFT) is undertaking a more detailed clinical audit to 
examine and understand this issue in more detail.    
 
Figure 6 – Re-admission Rates – Working Age Services  
 

Re-admission Rate - Working Age Mental 

Health

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

10/11 11/12

%
 R
e
-a
d
m
it
te
d
 w
th
in
 2
8
 D
a
y
s

 
 
 
 
 

84



5 

Figure 7: Re-admission Rates – Older People  Services  
 

Re-admission Rate - Older People Mental 

Health 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

10/11 11/12

%
 R
e
-a
d
m
it
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
8
 D
a
y
s

 
 
 
 

3.7 Complaints & Serious Untoward Incidents (SUI’s) 
Over the period September 2011 to April 2012 a total of 31 complaints were 
received by SPFT relating to Millview Hospital and urgent care services in 
Brighton and Hove. Three of these related to access to beds  

• Long wait in A&E for assessment and delay in admission due to bed 
availability.  

• Two people raised concerns about admission outside of Brighton and 
Hove.   

 
All three complaints have been investigated and responded to.  
 
In addition there has been a recent unexpected death of a patient being care 
for by the crisis team. This SUI is in the process of being investigated. Part of 
the scope of this investigation will include attempting to establish whether the 
incident had any connection with inpatient bed availability.  
 
  

4. PLANS TO ENHANCE COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES 
There a further updates to report on two important ongoing pieces of work that 
will contribute to the reduction in number of admissions and the length of stay:  
 

4.1 Development of a community based service for people with personality 
disorder. We have reached agreement to develop a new community based 
facility which will help support people with personality disorder in the 
community and prevent some hospital admissions. The new service will start 
in April 2013. SPFT will provide the overall management of the service as well 
as the clinical aspects of service delivery. The CCG is currently inviting bids 
via our Commissioning Prospectus for the community and voluntary sector to 
provide a range of supporting activities such as peer support and volunteering 
opportunities, and a range of social and therapeutic activities.    

85



6 

  
4.2 Improvement of Supported Accommodation Delayed transfers of care due 

to housing still remains a significant issue. Bench-marking work undertaken in 
2012 has identified opportunities to secure improved value for money from the 
funding available for mental health accommodation support.   During 2012 the 
CCG plan to under-take a procurement process and re-commission an 
increased number of units of supported accommodation to help prevent 
delayed transfers of care due to insufficient support accommodation. It is 
anticipated that increased accommodation units will be available from June 
2013.  
   

4.3 In addition to the updates on these two developments, SPFT have undertaken 
a review of the crisis resolution home treatment team (CRHT) and the team 
will be working more closely with the wards to help facilitate early discharge 
from hospital. These changes will be introduced on a three month pilot basis 
and the effectiveness will be evaluated.  

 
  
5. SUMMARY  

Since January 2012, 15 beds have been temporarily closed at Millview 
Hospital whilst we have been testing out the safety of the system in terms of 
operating with fewer beds and also to undertake refurbishment work. A range 
of metrics have been agreed via the Clinical Review Group and it is evident 
that the targets have not yet been achieved. The two key developments that 
have been identified as supporting the bed closures (increased units of 
supported accommodation and a community based personality disorder 
service) will not be available until 2013. The fundamental question for the 
Clinical Review group to consider and agree at the next meeting on 3rd July is 
whether the beds should re-open until these key developments are in place.   
 
 

6. RECOMMENDATION 
The recommendation of the clinical review group is that the system is not yet 
ready to close beds on a permanent basis.  The clinical review group at its’  
next meeting on 3rd July will consider whether the beds should re-open until 
further improvements to community mental health support services are in 
place.  

86



7 

 
Appendix A  

 
CLINICAL METRICS  

 
 

  Description Target   

1 Access to Bed in 
Brighton & Hove 

    

95% of patients able to access bed in the City 

    Length of wait for CRHT assessment 

    Length of time between the decision to admit & the time a bed 
is identified  

2 Average Length of Stay WAHMS 28 days 

    OPMH - functional 50 days 

    OPMH - organic 60 days 

3 Median Length of Stay  WAHMS   

    OPMH - functional   

    OPMH - organic   

4 Admission Rates WAHMS 73 per 100,000 
weighted population 

    OPMH - functional 48 per 100,000 
weighted population 

    OPMH - organic 106 per 100,000 
weighted population 

    Variation in admission rate over the 
course of the year 

  

5 Re-admission Rates No increase in the emergency re-admissions rates (no of 
emergency re-admissions within 28 days) 

Less than 5%   6 Delayed Transfer of Care 

    

7 Impact on Recovery 
Teams 

7 Day Follow Up from discharge from CRHT 

8 Impact on CRHT Team  CRHT caseload 
To be agreed following output of CRHT review 

9 Number of complaints     

10 Number of Adverse 
Incidents 

    

11 Number of SUI's      

 
 
 

87



88



HEALTH &WELLBEING 
OVERVIEW &SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 32 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Local Implementation of 111 Services and 
Associated Change to Out of Hours 

Date of Meeting: 11 September 2012 

Report of: Strategic Director, Resources 

Contact Officer: Name: Kath Vlcek Tel: 29-0450 

 Email: Kath.vlcek@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 ‘111’ is the new NHS service to deal with emergencies that do not require a 999 

response.  
 
1.2 This item will explain the local plans for implementing the nationally agreed 

service model and how this will impact upon local GP out of hours services. 
 
1.3 Appendix 1 to this report includes further information supplied by the Brighton & 

Hove Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  

 
2.1 That the HWOSC: 
 
  Considers and comments on the report  
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 

EVENTS: 
 

3.1 NHS 111 is a new service that is being introduced to make it easier to access 
local NHS healthcare services when medical help is needed but it is not a 999 
emergency situation. NHS 111 is intended to be a fast and easy way to get the 
right help throughout the day and night. 

 

3.2 The NHS 111 service is staffed by a team of fully trained advisers, supported by 
experienced nurses. They will ask questions and then give the healthcare advice 
needed or direct the patient straightaway to the local service that can help best, 
ranging from A&E, an out-of-hours doctor, a walk-in centre, a community nurse, 
an emergency dentist or a late-opening chemist. 

3.3 From 19th March 2013, the NHS 111 service in Sussex will be provided by a 
partnership between South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust (SECAmb) and Harmoni. 

89



 
 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 None to this report for information but the national pilot has involved consultation 

with stakeholders. 
  
 
5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 
5.1 None to this report for information.  
 
 Legal Implications:  
 
5.2 None to this report for information. 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
5.3 None to this report for information. 
 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
5.4 None to this report for information. 
 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
5.5 None to this report for information. 
 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
5.6 None to this report for information. 
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
5.7 The report focuses on how the nationally agreed ‘111’service will impact upon 

local GP out of hours services. 
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
5.8 None to this report for information. 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1. NHS 111 – ‘when it’s less urgent than 999’ 
 
 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
1. None 
 
 

90



Background Documents 
 
1. None 
 
2. 

91



92



 

NHS 111 – ‘when it’s less urgent than 999’ 
 
Context 

The development of NHS 111 as a new national NHS service, providing a telephone advice line for 
patients with urgent health problems which require assessment but which are not so serious as to 
require a 999 call, was identified in the White Paper, Liberating the NHS. The service will be 
available free to callers, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year and will absorb the calls 
currently going to NHS Direct and our GP OOH services. NHS 111 makes it easier for people to 
access local NHS healthcare services 

NHS 111 will incorporate services already offered by NHS Direct and the telephony components of 
the GP OOH services. 

When to contact NHS 111? 
 

• Need medical help fast but its not a 999 emergency 

• Don’t have a GP or know how to access healthcare 

• Think you need A&E or other urgent care service 

• Need health information, reassurance or advice on what to do next 
 
What will NHS 111 do? 
 

• Clinical assessment without the need for a call back 

• Dispatch an ambulance without delay  

• Refer callers to services with appropriate skills and capacity to meet their needs  

• Provide information / advice to callers who can care for themselves 

• Transfer clinical assessment data to other providers / book appointments where appropriate 

• Provide a Professional Support Line 
 
Mobilisation in Sussex 
 
In order to be as efficient as possible, a single procurement across Kent, Surrey and Sussex was 
conducted in order to secure a high quality service that is value for money. 
 
From 19th March 2013, the NHS 111 service in Sussex will be provided by a partnership between 
South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SECAmb) and Harmoni. Assessment 
of the bidders was carried out by a panel including a number of GPs against a rigorous set of 
criteria to determine which bidder was best able to deliver the service to the standard required for 
patients in our health economy. 
 
When someone phones 111, a trained call handler, supported by appropriate health professionals, 
will provide them with a clinical assessment using NHS Pathways at the first point of contact, 
without the caller having to wait for a call back. NHS Pathways will be underpinned by a local 
'Directory of Services' (DoS), which will provide the call handler with real time information about 
local services available to support a particular patient. 
 

GPs and other health professionals will also be able to phone 111 or use a web based version of 
the DoS to get real time information on available services. 
  

93



 

The new NHS 111 service will provide telephone triage and assessment, both in and out of hours, 
and will advise the patient or direct to the most appropriate local service available including GP 
Practices. 
 
The current professional support line function that is currently provided by HERMES will also be 
incorporated into the 111 service. 
 
What are the benefits? 
 
The benefits of 111 are: 
 

• Improved access to urgent care services 

• Improving efficiency of NHS services 

• Increasing public satisfaction & confidence in using NHS services 

• Enables design and commissioning of more effective and efficient services 
 
Out of Hours Service (OOH) 
 
The current OOH contract is being extended for 6 months and the CCG procuring a new service to 
start on 1st October 2013. It is expected that there may be an increase in OOH activity as a result of 
NHS 111 but these numbers have not yet been quantified. Mitigation of possible increases in OOH 
will be through the population of the Directory of Services to its maximum potential. 
 
 

94


	Agenda
	25 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	29 Children with Complex Needs
	Amaze_PCC_Health Report_2012_V2
	amazePaCC presentation to about talk health v2

	30 GP Performance
	Appendix 1 GP Performance and Quality Scorecard Presentation handout - Sep 2012
	Appendix 4 BH GP taxonomies from DPH Annual report 2011
	Appendix 5 GP Scorecard Newsletter

	31 Mental Health Beds (September 2012)
	mental health acute beds Sept update from CCG
	mental health acute beds Sept update from CCG Appendix A

	32 Local Implementation of the 111 Service
	NHS 111 - Briefing note for HWOSC


